
 

East Buckinghamshire Area Planning Committee 
agenda 

Date: Tuesday 9 March 2021 

Time: 6.30 pm 

Venue: Via Video Conference 

Membership: 

C Jones (Chairman), N Rose (Vice-Chairman), D Bray, J Burton, J Gladwin, P Jones, 
J MacBean, J Rush, N Southworth, M Titterington, J Waters and J Wertheim 

Webcasting notice 

Please note: this meeting may be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the council's 
website. At the start of the meeting the chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting is 
being filmed. 

You should be aware that the council is a data controller under the Data Protection Act. 
Data collected during this webcast will be retained in accordance with the council’s 
published policy. 

Therefore by entering the meeting room, you are consenting to being filmed and to the 
possible use of those images and sound recordings for webcasting and/or training purposes. 
If members of the public do not wish to have their image captured they should ask the 
committee clerk, who will advise where to sit. 

If you have any queries regarding this, please contact the Legal & Democratic Service 
Director at monitoringofficer@buckinghamshire.gov.uk. 

Public Speaking 

If you have any queries concerning public speaking at Planning Committee meetings, 
including registering your intention to speak, please speak to a member of the Planning 
team – planning.csb@buckinghamshire.gov.uk 01494 732950. Please refer to the Guide to 
Public Speaking at Planning Committee here. 

 
 

 
 

mailto:monitoringofficer@buckinghamshire.gov.uk
mailto:planning.csb@buckinghamshire.gov.uk
https://buckinghamshire.moderngov.co.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13577


 
 
Agenda Item 
 

 
 

Page No 

1 Apologies for Absence  
   
2 Declarations of Interest  
   
3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting 3 - 4 
 To agree the minutes of the meeting held on 9 February 2021 as an 

accurate record.  
 

 

Applications to be determined 
 
4 PL/20/3086/FA - The Swan Public House, Blackwell Hall Lane, Ley Hill, 

Buckinghamshire, HP5 1UT 
5 - 34 

   
5 PL/20/4132/FA - Slievmore, 84 Denham Lane, Chalfont St Peter, 

Buckinghamshire, SL9 0ES 
35 - 48 

   
6 PL/20/4358/FA - 41 Watchet Lane, Holmer Green, Buckinghamshire, 

HP15 6UF 
49 - 64 

   
7 Date and Time of the Next Meeting  
 Tuesday 8 April 2021 at 6.30pm. 

 
 

 
If you would like to attend a meeting, but need extra help to do so, for example because of 
a disability, please contact us as early as possible, so that we can try to put the right support 
in place. 

For further information please contact: Liz Hornby on 01494 421261, email 
democracy@buckinghamshire.gov.uk. 



 

Buckinghamshire Council 

East Buckinghamshire Area 
Planning Committee  

 
 
 
 

Minutes 
 
MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE EAST BUCKINGHAMSHIRE AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE HELD ON 
TUESDAY 9 FEBRUARY 2021 IN VIA VIDEO CONFERENCE, COMMENCING AT 6.31 PM AND 
CONCLUDING AT 7.32 PM 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT 
 
C Jones, N Rose, D Bray, J Burton, J Gladwin, P Jones, J MacBean, J Rush, N Southworth, J Waters and 
J Wertheim 
 
Agenda Item 
 
1 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 Apologies were received from Councillor M Titterington. 

 
2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 Councillor J Gladwin: PL/20/1954/FA. Councillor Gladwin confirmed that whilst he had 

commented upon revised plans which had been submitted as requested at the meeting of the 
Planning Committee on 17 November 2020 as stated within the committee’s report, Councillor 
Gladwin confirmed that he had an open mind and would listen to the debate before making his 
mind up.  
 
Councillor P Jones: PL/20/1954/FA. Councillor P Jones confirmed that whilst he had commented 
upon revised plans which had been submitted as requested at the meeting of the Planning 
Committee on 17 November 2020 as stated within the committee’s report, Councillor P Jones 
confirmed that he had an open mind and would listen to the debate before making his mind up.  
 
Councillor J Wertheim: PL/19/4344/FA. Declared a personal interest as he had known the next 
door neighbour to the application site prior to his death.  
 

3 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
 The minutes of the East Buckinghamshire Area Planning Committee meeting held on 12 January 

2021 were agreed as a correct record.  
 

4 PL/20/1954/FA - CHALK HILL FARM, CHALK LANE, HYDE HEATH, BUCKINGHAMSHIRE, HP6 5SA 
 Reserved matters following outline planning permission PL/18/2502/OA (Outline planning 

permission for conversion of two barns to provide two dwellings (all matters reserved)). 
 
Notes: 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



 The Planning Officer advised Members that there had been 1 further objection received 
which did not raise any new material issues. The letter was also putting the Council on 
notice of proposed legal action. Officers explained that the application before Members was 
a Reserved Matters application and that the conversion of the two barns to provide two 
dwellings had been considered and approved by the Council in 2018. It was also confirmed 
that a reply to the letter would be sent after the Committee had made its decision.   

 
Speaking as Ward Member: Councillor J MacBean 
 
It was proposed by Councillor N Rose and seconded by Councillor J Burton and 
 
 Resolved: that the application be approved and conditional planning permission be 

granted. 
 
Note 1: The presentation was briefly paused to enable Councillor Bray to re-join the meeting. 
 

5 PL/19/4344/FA - CLAVERING, 40 NORTH PARK, CHALFONT ST PETER, BUCKINGHAMSHIRE, SL9 
8JP 

 Demolition of existing dwelling and erection of five apartments with ancillary landscaping and 
parking. 
 
Speaking as Ward Member: Councillor J Wertheim.  
 
It was proposed by Councillor J Wertheim and seconded by Councillor J Waters and 
 
 Resolved: that the application be refused subject to an amendment to the first reason 

for refusal to include reference to parking related amenity.  
 

6 PL/20/3778/FA - 28 NAIRDWOOD CLOSE, PRESTWOOD, GREAT MISSENDEN, 
BUCKINGHAMSHIRE, HP16 0QN - WITHDRAWN 

 Single storey rear extension alterations to existing side carport and alterations to roof over 
existing garages. 
 
This application was withdrawn by the Applicant prior to the meeting.  
 

7 DATE AND TIME OF THE NEXT MEETING 
 Tuesday 9 March 2021 at 6.30pm. 

 

Page 4



Buckinghamshire Council 
www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk  

 

 

 

Report to East Area Planning Committee 

Application Number: PL/20/3086/FA 

Proposal: Change of Use to a single dwelling (C3) to include 

provision of on-site parking 

Site Location: The Swan Public House, Blackwell Hall Lane, Ley Hill, 
Buckinghamshire, HP5 1UT 
 

Applicant: Mr and Mrs N and C Byatt 

Case Officer: Mike Shires 

Ward(s) affected: Chess Valley 

Parish-Town Council: Latimer & Ley Hill 

Date valid application received: 17 September 2020 

Statutory determination date: 12 March 2021 

Recommendation Refuse permission 

1.0 Summary & Recommendation/ Reason for Planning Committee Consideration 

1.1 This application proposes the change of use of this Public House to residential use and 

its conversion into one dwelling with no internal or external alterations. This 

application also identified the front portion of the existing curtilage of the Public House 

as falling within the application site area, separating off land in the rear western 'half' 

of the existing curtilage so that it falls outside of the application site, the continued 

lawful use of which would be as land ancillary to a Public House use. Consequently, 

that land directly adjacent to the building is proposed to be land associated with the 

proposed dwelling as a garden for the proposed dwelling and accommodating 2 

parking spaces. 

1.2 In summary, the proposal would result in the loss of an asset of community value. 

However, the Council's expert Surveyor considered the application submissions under 

application ref. no. PL/20/0335/FA seeking to set out those exceptional circumstances 

as to why the loss of this Community facility should be allowed, in the context of Core 

Policy CS29 and concluded that although the property was advertised at an 

unrealistically high price, the only genuine interest has been for the use of the building 

as a Day Nursery, which was refused. Given the particular circumstances pertaining to 

this Public House, the Council's Surveyor concluded that it would be difficult to defend 

the retention of this Public House. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4

http://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/


1.3 A viability report has also been submitted on behalf of a local group 'Save Our Swan' 

which concludes that the continued use of the Public House is viable.  However, the 

Council's Surveyor has also considered the findings of that report but maintains his 

initial position that the continued use of the Public House is unviable other than as a 

Community owned and run venture or by a well-funded operator with significant cash 

reserves, where profit is not a major requirement. 

1.4 No 3-year business plan with full trading projections has been submitted and there is 

no legal requirement for an owner to sell to a community group or any other buyer 

making an offer. However, it is noted that when considering an appeal  

1.5 Furthermore, the Council's Historic Buildings Officer has a fundamental objection to 

the proposed change of use of this property, which would preclude general access to 

members of the public. The Historic Buildings Officer has concluded that there would 

be less than substantial harm to the significance of this Grade II Listed Building and it 

is therefore necessary to weigh this harm against the public benefits of the proposal. 

1.6 The proposal would provide some economic benefit from the refurbishment of the 

building and the subsequent occupancy of the dwelling by occupants who would 

contribute to the local economy. The scheme would also deliver one dwelling to the 

local economy, thereby adding to the Chiltern Area's housing supply, however, the 

former Public House comprised residential accommodation at 1st floor level and its 

occupants and use contributed to the local economy.  Therefore, technically, there 

would be no net gain in dwelling numbers.  

1.7 Given the foregoing, it is considered that the limited proposed public benefits would 

not outweigh the harm to the listed building and/or the loss of a community facility. It 

is therefore concluded that the proposal does not accord with the development plan 

policies that seek to protect listed buildings and public houses, which are in accordance 

with those policies in the NPPF.  

1.8 Councillor Garth has requested that this application be determined by the Planning 

Committee regardless of the officers' recommendation.  

1.9 Given the above, this application is recommended for refusal. 

2.0 Description of Proposed Development 

2.1 This application relates to The Swan Public House located in Blackwell Hall Lane, Ley 

Hill. The site lies within the open Green Belt and is Grade II listed (listed in 1984) dating 

from the 16th and 17th century.  

2.2 The application site comprises the 2 storey building, which has been in use as a Public 

House since at least 1843 and prior to this was originally three cottages, with two built 

in approx. 1520 and the third in 1680. The application site comprises the front part of 

the existing Public House curtilage with the rear part being excluded from the 

application site, but shown as being in the ownership of the applicant. The site is 

surrounded by mainly residential development but is sited directly next to an existing 

pub (The Crown Public House).  

Page 6



2.3 The first floor of the pub has been used for ancillary residential accommodation.  

2.4 The Swan Public House was designated as an Asset of Community Value (on the 26th 

November 2018). Permitted development rights for this building are therefore 

removed. 

2.5 This application proposes a change of use of the pub (including the ancillary 

accommodation above) to a single family dwelling (C3). No internal or external 

alterations are proposed to the building. 

2.6 The proposed layout plan shows the provision of 2 on-site parking spaces for the 

proposed single family dwelling, to be accessed via the existing access that runs along 

the northern side of the building. 

2.7 The application is accompanied by:  

a) A Planning Statement  
b) Heritage Assessment  
c)  Viability Report by Chartered Surveyor 
d)  Report and Information submitted by Oxley Conservation Historic Buildings 

Consultancy 
e)  Additional Correspondence submitted by the agents, Barker Parry Town 

Planning Ltd. 
f)  Building Regulation documentation  

3.0 Relevant Planning History 

3.1 There are various historical applications for extensions and adverts, but the most 

recent, of relevance, are:  

3.2 PL/20/0335/FA - Withdrawn - Change of use and conversion to two dwellings (C3) to 

include external and internal alterations and rear extension. Demolition of porch and 

a shed. Changes to windows and doors and addition of side rooflights and provision of 

on site parking. 

3.3 PL/20/0336/HB - Withdrawn - Change of use and conversion to two dwellings (C3) to 

include external and internal alterations and rear extension. Demolition of porch and 

a shed. Changes to windows and doors and addition of side rooflights and provision of 

on site parking.  

3.4 CH/2018/0231/HB - Conditional Consent - Internal alterations to facilitate change of 

use of The Swan Public House to use class D1 (Non-residential institutions - nursery) 

3.5 CH/2017/2353/FA - Refused - Change of use of The Swan Pub to use Class D1 (Non-

residential institutions - nursery) 

4.0 Summary of Representations 

4.1 Letters of objection have been received from 96 different addresses as well as the 

organisation 'Save Our Swan' and Ley Hill Community Pub, and they are summarised 

as follows: 

 The Swan is a popular community facility; 

Page 7



 Local people would be willing to purchase The Swan as a community PH and the 

owner has indicated that he will consider a reasonable offer if this application is 

refused; 

 A business plan has been prepared by the Save Our Swan group; 

 The Save the Swan group should be given the opportunity to purchase and 

maintain this community asset; 

 Erroneous comparison in viability statement to The Pig in the Pantry, which is part 

of a chain selling cheap convenience food, reference should be made to The Bell 

in Bovingdon and the Bricklayers Arms in Flaunden; 

 The PH is viable; 

 Previously 2 prospective investors were interested in purchasing the PH but their 

interest was not pursued; 

 The premises were not marketed until after the nursery application was 

withdrawn on 18 April 2019 i.e. less than a year before the withdrawn application 

was submitted; 

 The Swan was marketed at an unrealistically high price; 

 Unwelcoming management has contributed to the decline of the PH;  

 The Swan is no longer welcoming, closing at 21.30 hours and after lunch on a 

Sunday, or earlier than advertised, dog walkers and hikers are not welcomed and 

half of the pub garden has been closed off; 

 The Council's expert surveyor has only used the information in the flawed report 

submitted by the agent. 

 The Swan as a Public House is a significant and historic feature, it is 500 years old 

and the oldest PH in the County, which should be protected;  

 Popular Music and Beer Festival, Classic Car Festival, The Beacon, and other events 

take place in the village; 

 The Swan has provided important employment opportunities, particularly for 

young people and those needing to work shifts; 

 Detrimental to Listed Building; 

 The Parish Council would like to use the PH for community purposes and have 

stated a list of intentions and initiatives; 

 Proposed extensions would cause loss of privacy; 

 Planning Statement submitted is flawed e.g. competition from Cricket Club and 

Golf Club which are both private member's clubs. 

4.2 One neutral letter has been received stating that if the Public House is to be lost, the 

attractive external appearance of this listed building should be maintained. 

4.3 Two letters of support have been received stating that given the national trend and 

the decrease in patronage at this Public House, it will never be viable again and so 

sensible to return the Historic building to its original function as a dwelling, especially 

given adjacent community facility Public House. 

 

Page 8



5.0  Policy Considerations and Evaluation 

 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), February 2019.  

 National Design Guidance, October 2019  

 Core Strategy for Chiltern District - Adopted November 2011:  

 Chiltern District Local Plan adopted 1 September 1997 (including alterations adopted 
29 May 2001), consolidated September 2007 and November 2011.  

 Chiltern and South Bucks Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule 
 

Principle of Development / Loss of Community Facility 

Core Strategy Policies:  
CS1 (The spatial strategy)  
CS2 (Amount and distribution of residential development 2006-2026) 
CS3 (Amount and distribution of non-residential development 2006-2026)  
CS29 (Community)  
Local Plan Saved Policies:  
GB2 (Development in general in the Green Belt)  
GB5 (Residential Development in the Green Belt in Settlements As Defined on the Proposals 
Map)  
GB11 (Re-use of existing Non-Residential Buildings in the Green Belt for Residential Use 
(Class C3)  
GB24 (Redevelopment or Change of Use of Buildings used for the provision of Local 
Community Facilities in the Green Belt) 
LB4 (Change of Use of Listed Buildings Throughout the District)  

5.1 This report will identify if any policies are not consistent with the NPPF and the weight 

to be afforded, if not full weight. 

5.2 This application proposes the change of use of this Public House to residential use by 

way of its conversion into one dwelling. In this connection, no internal and external 

alterations are proposed. However, this application proposes the loss of the existing 

Community Facility which is available to the general public.  

5.3 Adopted Local Plan policy GB24 states that the change of use of such local community 

facilities will not be allowed unless a convenient replacement is proposed, which is not 

applicable to this proposal, or it can be demonstrated that the facility is no longer 

required for any other community use in the village and adjoining area.  

5.4 Core Policy CS29: Community states that the loss of community facilities will only be 

permitted in exceptional circumstances. 

5.5 Local Plan policy GB24 and Core Policy 29 are in accordance with paragraphs 83 and 

92 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) which state, inter alia, that in the 

context of building a strong, competitive economy, planning policies and decisions 

should enable the retention of accessible community facilities such as public houses, 

and that with regard to promoting healthy and safe communities, they should guard 

against the unnecessary loss of valued facilities and services, such as public houses, 

Page 9



particularly where this would reduce the community's ability to meet its day-to-day 

needs. 

5.6  In response to this policy advice, a report was submitted with this application from a 

Fellow of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors setting out the marketing of the 

application property by two agencies as a Public House. The key points raised by this 

report include the conclusion that the initial asking price was 'optimistic', but that in 

any event no offers were made, other than one from an individual who wished to use 

the premises as an office and from an individual who wished to use the property as a 

day nursery, and a planning application was submitted for the proposed change of use 

to a day nursery in 2017 but was refused.  

5.7 The applicant's Surveyor's report concludes that the apparent lack of interest to 

purchase the Public House for the continuation of that use is due to a number of factors 

including competition from the adjacent Public House 'The Crown' and also the sale of 

alcoholic liquor and food at the Cricket Club opposite. Other factors highlighted in that 

report include macro-economic effects such as Brexit, changes in legislation such as an 

increase in the minimum wage, and increased business costs. This submitted report 

concludes that in the market and trading conditions at the time of the submission of 

the application, The Swan is no longer capable of operating profitably and is no longer 

saleable as a Public House.  

5.8 To scrutinise the submitted Surveyor's report, the Council attained its own 

independent expert advice. The Council's Consultant Surveyor similarly concluded that 

the asking price was unrealistic but, nevertheless, acknowledged that there appeared 

to have been no genuine interest or lower offers, other than as an office or as a Day 

Nursery, as stated above.  

5.9 However, a number of the objections received refer to an apparent failure of the 

marketing agents to respond to those enquiring about purchasing, including an 

objection from one first hand enquirer. In this regard, the Council's Consultant 

Surveyor has advised that sensitive financial information would only be disclosed to 

those showing a genuine interest in purchasing, who had already visited the premises, 

and that it would have been in the interest of the marketing agents to encourage 

purchasers in order to secure a relatively quick sale as a Public House. Also, it is a fact 

that following interest for a Day Nursery, a planning application was received, 

indicating that the applicant for that Day Nursery did receive the relevant marketing 

information.  

5.10 Consequently, the Council's Consultant Surveyor has concluded that this Public House 

was marketed appropriately, albeit that the asking price was too high, although it is 

alleged that is often the case and does not preclude lower offers.  Be that as it may, 

the high asking price is a concern and raises doubt on the marketing exercise.  It cannot 

be said with any certainty that nobody would be put off by an inflated asking price.   

5.11 The Council's viability expert has also given particular consideration to the viability of 

The Swan as a trading entity, having regard to the current condition and layout of the 

Page 10



property, the likely level of business and profit it may potentially generate, and has 

then determined whether the profit level would be considered sufficient by a potential 

operator. The Council's expert has concluded that the pub would currently have to be 

sold within the trade as a 'life-style' business, where a price is determined by reference 

to the building value with an adjustment for trade. Apparently, such a deal would have 

to be financed from cash resources as the majority of lenders would expect a loan to 

be covered by a secure trading position. The Council's expert has concluded that this 

would be likely to have a detrimental impact on the achievable price and is probably 

the principal reason that a trade sale has not been achieved.  

5.12 With regard to viability, the Council's viability expert has concluded that the limiting 

factors highlighted make any major investment for business purposes a notably higher-

than-average financial risk. Coupled with the costs of potential refurbishment and 

working capital, the Council's viability expert has concluded that the viability of the 

Property as a public house would be entirely dependent upon the price for which it can 

be acquired and a consistent minimum level of business. The Council's Surveyor has 

also concluded that the location of this Public House is such that an operator would 

have to run a business strongly biased towards food sales, promoted regionally rather 

than just locally, and he concludes that the entire site does not appear to have 

sufficient land to provide sufficient parking facilities.  

5.13 Furthermore, the Council's Surveyor considers that the social distancing protocols as a 

result of Covid 19 will result in the permanent closure of a significant number of public 

houses, restaurants and similar venues and businesses, and that smaller public houses 

with significant competition, such as The Swan, will experience the greatest pressure 

and face the highest risk of closure.  However, it should be noted this should, at 

present, be regarded as a temporary situation and as noted by similar appeals, the 

pandemic should not be used as justification for a loss of a community asset.  

5.14 In response to these conclusions the local interest group 'Save Our Swan' 

commissioned its own viability assessment by MJD Hughes, which concluded as 

follows: 

 The closure of the pub was the choice of the owner following the relaxation of the 

lockdown due to the covid-19 pandemic.  

 The neighbouring public house, The Crown, has benefited from this closure. 

 Prior to lockdown the trade at The Swan was declining due to either 

mismanagement and/or very erratic and reduced opening hours.  

 The Swan has always provided the village with an alternative offering for the 

inhabitants of the village and those visiting the village.  

 Ley Hill has a very strong community spirit and The Swan has previously benefitted 

from events. 

 The viability of a public house should be looked at as an operating entity. 

 The question of viability should be answered by the most efficient method of 

operation. 

Page 11



 The Swan is a privately owned and operated freehold, and would not be operated 

by a tied tenant, and so can reasonably be expected to operate at a gross profit of 

65%.  

 Ensuring a reasonable level of turnover and a commercial gross profit will allow an 

achievable operating net profit of about £60,000, considered sufficient to allow 

other commercially owned and community owned public houses to operate a 

viable business with a tenant on a sustainable rent.  

 The most recent trading history has been at a restricted level due to a life-style 

choice of the owners.  

 The market will dictate the value of The Swan and so failure to achieve the 

unrealistically high property value does not prove its lack of viability as a pub. 

 Marketing at an unreasonably high price should not be taken into consideration 

when assessing any periods of marketing for sale. 

 Continuation of The Swan as a public house is the best commercial use of the 

property.' 

5.15 The Council re-consulted its Consultant Viability Expert on the viability assessment 

from MJD Hughes, to ascertain whether or not the Surveyor stands by his initial 

position, or whether the findings of the MJD Hughes viability assessment are valid and, 

as such, there is evidence that a continued Public House use is feasible. 

5.16 The Council's Surveyor has concluded that his initial position is correct and that a 

continued Public House use is untenable. The Council's Consultant Surveyor considers 

that the viability of The Swan cannot be authoritatively demonstrated in general terms 

and would require a full business plan describing growth from start-up to maturity, 

showing a profit level which justifies a trading market value and asset value 

commensurate with the tone of value in the area. The MJD Hughes assessment does 

not allow for higher extraordinary holding costs of a Grade II listed building or for any 

loan servicing. Automated valuation models based on Zoopla and Rightmove are 

inaccurate and should not be relied upon for specific valuation purposes. The full 

effects of the COVID-19 pandemic cannot be disregarded in respect of any viability 

assessment for any public house. The current national lockdown will exacerbate the 

pressures on all pubs and result in higher than anticipated re-opening costs, especially 

on new start ups. 

5.17 However, the Council's Consultant has concluded that 'A well-funded operator with 

significant cash reserves would be able to provide a reasonable offering at and from 

The Swan, if profit is not a major requirement and there are examples of community 

owned and run public houses trading on such a basis but not sufficiently profitable on 

a stand-alone basis to be viable as an independent business. In this regard, the 

Consultant states that a fully reasoned, 3-year business plan and full trading 

projections would be needed to support the MJD report's assertions of viability.  

5.18 The Council's Valuation expert has also highlighted that the MJD report suggests that 

the price/value of the Property is the principal block to viability, but ignores the fact 

Page 12



that no property owner can be 'forced' to sell at a price they deem to be too low, and 

there is no legal requirement for an owner to sell to a community group (or any other 

buyer) making an offer.  

5.19 A similar planning application has also now been brought to the Council's attention 

pertaining to The Green Dragon, Haddenham. That application was refused and the 

subsequent appeal decision sets out one of the two main issues being whether or not 

the proposed change of use from a public house to a dwelling would be acceptable, 

with particular regard to the acceptability of the loss of a pub in this location, the 

viability of the continued use of the property as a pub, and the adequacy of the 

marketing of the property. 

5.20 With regard to The Green Dragon, there were two existing and operating pubs in the 

village, one of which offered food in the evening and the Inspector considered the 

appeal site as being an important location for the provision of a pub, to serve the 

surrounding part of the village. The Inspector noted that although the Asset of 

Community Value listing on the property was lifted in 2019, a pub in this location, 

particularly one serving food, provides an important community facility that reduces 

the need to travel, both within and without the village. As such the Inspector 

concluded that there was a demonstrable local need. 

5.21 It is also pertinent to note that both the applicant for the Green Dragon application 

and the Council had commissioned viability reports which had concluded that the use 

of the appeal building as a pub was not viable. Both reports discussed the negative 

factors, such as changing consumer behaviour. However, neither report addressed the 

importance of specific business models tailored to the local market to the potential 

success of a pub.  

5.22 The Green Dragon was noted as being an attractive building, in a good state of repair, 

in a setting of high quality, traditional properties arranged around a village green and 

pond, but it was noted that it may not benefit from high footfall. However, that 

Inspector concluded that it had not been demonstrated that the pub could not operate 

as a destination for village residents, particularly if it were to provide evening food for 

which there were very limited alternatives in the village.  

5.23 Of relevance to this current planning application regarding The Swan, neither viability 

report provided sensitivity testing to assess what the effect on viability would be from 

a reasonable alternative business model, such as high-quality evening food. 

5.24 The Inspector noted that the existing internal arrangement of The Green Dragon 

limited the number of covers that could be offered, and the grade II listing of the pub 

and the cost of significantly re-arranging the internal layout could prove prohibitive, 

but he concluded that there had been a limited assessment of the effect of potential 

changes in either viability assessment. As such, the Inspector concluded that it had not 

been conclusively demonstrated that a food-based pub offer could not be viable. 

Page 13



5.25 In reaching his conclusions, the Inspector did also note that the emerging LP allocated 

Haddenham as a 'Strategic Settlement', where a large amount of growth is to be 

focussed, with 1,051 new homes to be constructed during the plan period. The 

Inspector also noted a nearby large housing estate partially occupied and partially 

under-construction, and so Haddenham was undergoing a significant increase in 

population within easy walking distance of the Green Dragon. Although both reports 

acknowledged the growth of the village, neither report showed that the potential 

increase in custom and turnover likely to result had been factored in, and sensitivity 

testing had not been provided to account for the ongoing increase in population.  

5.26 With regard to the Covid-19 pandemic likely worsening the forecast for the viability of 

pubs, the Inspector concluded that the pandemic is a temporary situation, and should 

not be used to govern the assessment of the long-term viability of a pub, or to influence 

decision making on important matters such as the retention of community facilities 

that would serve and support communities for decades.  

5.27 Finally, the Inspector also noted that there was ambiguity in the evidence regarding 

purchase offers made for the pub, and also that it had been marketed about £40,000 

higher than its recent purchase and that may have played a part of why no successful 

bids had been made to purchase the property. That Inspector concluded that it had 

not, therefore, been demonstrated that all reasonable steps had been taken to secure 

a successful sale or lease of the property and to retain the pub in its present use as a 

viable concern, contrary to paragraphs 83 and 92 of the Framework which seek to 

guard against the unnecessary loss of valued community facilities.  

5.28 This current planning application for The Swan similarly proposes the loss of a public 

house; The Swan having been identified as an Asset of Community Value and the 

proposed loss of which has generated a significant number of objections, indicative of 

a demonstrable local need. Similar to The Green Dragon circumstances, the viability 

assessments commissioned by the applicant and Council, conclude that the continued 

use as a pub is not viable and that the impact of Covid will be significant. However, that 

Inspector's conclusions are a material consideration and concluded that the pandemic 

is a temporary situation and should not govern the assessment of the long term 

viability of the pub or influence decision making on the retention of a community 

facility that would serve the community for decades. 

5.29 Similarly, a specific business model tailored to the local market to the potential success 

of The Swan has not been explored, and the Inspector considering the Green Dragon 

considered that a serious omission.  

5.30 Although The Swan similarly may not benefit from a high footfall, it is also an attractive 

building, in a good state of repair, in a setting of high quality, traditional properties 

opposite a village green and it has not been demonstrated that the pub could not 

operate as a destination providing high-quality evening food. In this connection, the 

Council's Valuation Consultant concluded that, despite objections to the contrary, The 

Swan had not been deliberately run down because it had long established owners, but 

Page 14



that conclusion ignores the possibility that the owners might have run down the Public 

House use because they wanted to dispose of the property and so maximise its 

profitability as a residential dwelling.  

5.31 When dismissing the appeal pertaining to The Green Dragon, the Inspector 

acknowledged the limitations of that listed building, but concluded that there had 

been a limited assessment of the effect of potential changes in either viability 

assessment and thus concluded that it had not been conclusively demonstrated that a 

food-based pub could not be viable. 

5.32 The Swan location differs slightly from that of The Green Dragon in that there is 

unlikely to be any significant increase in the local population, but it is close to the 

settlements of Chesham and Bovingdon, as well as numerous other villages.  There are 

identified housing sites in Bovingdon, indicating an increase in local population and the 

Parish Council has highlighted this point.  Similarly, development is ongoing in 

Chesham, with new housing schemes and conversions creating a steady increase in 

population.  It has not been conclusively demonstrated that a food-based pub offering 

high quality food could not be viable and, as accepted by the Council's Viability 

Consultant, a well-funded operator with significant cash reserves would be able to 

provide a reasonable offering at and from The Swan, if profit is not a major 

requirement or a community owned and run public house trading on such a basis. 

5.33 The Save Our Swan group has submitted a number of objections to the application, 

maintaining the premises are viable as a community led pub.  The latest objection 

includes a prospectus inviting members of the community to purchase shares for the 

future sale and running of the pub.  It is stated that a significant proportion of the 

required amount has already been sourced.  They set out an operating model involving 

a tenant working under a Lease Agreement for the Landlord, which would be the Ley 

Hill Community Pub Limited.  Furthermore, the prospectus includes an outline five-

year business plan, with the pub operating at a modest profit in Year 2.    

5.34 A further material consideration, although it does not have any formal planning status, 

is the CAMRA Viability Test.  It provides a helpful, if informal, methodology on assessing 

viability.  On the information put forward, Officers are not satisfied that the following 

aspects have been meaningfully explored: activities undertaken to increase customer 

potential at the pub; the promotion of multiple use; and utilising the flexibility of the 

site.  It is therefore doubtful whether the proposal meets the detailed suggestions set 

out in the CAMRA test.   

5.35 As noted above, there is clearly much local support to retain the public house.  

Although local enthusiasm does not equate to viability, equally an assessment of 

viability, in this case undertaken by various experts, will involve a degree of subjective 

input.  No one outcome is assured and it is necessary to look at all operating models, 

including that proposed by the Save Our Swan group, as many community-led pubs 

exist that have been successfully saved in this way.  Whilst bringing the property back 

into active use as a public house would undoubtedly be challenging, the evidence does 

Page 15



not demonstrate on the balance of probability, and in a climate of renewed confidence 

once the pandemic restrictions are lifted, that the property could not, with 

forethought and planning, realistically be purchased and operated viably for its lawful 

use as a public house.  This is especially so given the unprecedented support shown by 

the local community.   

5.36 Finally, the Inspector considering The Green Dragon appeal noted that there was 

ambiguity in the evidence regarding purchase offers made for the pub, and that it had 

been marketed about £40,000 higher than its recent purchase, which may have played 

a part of why no successful bids had been made to purchase the property; 

circumstances that apply equally to the marketing of The Swan. 

5.37 The Inspector considering The Green Dragon appeal concluded that it had not, 

therefore, been demonstrated that all reasonable steps had been taken to secure a 

successful sale or lease of the property and to retain the pub in its present use as a 

viable concern, contrary to paragraphs 83 and 92 of the Framework which seek to 

guard against the unnecessary loss of valued community facilities. Given that 

Inspector's conclusions, despite the Council's independent viability advice regarding 

The Swan, Members may conclude that with regard to The Swan, it has not been 

demonstrated that all reasonable steps have been taken to secure a successful sale, in 

accordance with the requirements of Local Plan policies GB24 and Core Policy CS29, 

and therefore contrary to the policy advice of paragraphs 83 and 92 of the NPPF.  

5.38  Furthermore, Local Plan policy GB11 allows, in principle, for the re-use of existing non-

residential buildings in the Green Belt for residential use subject to there being no 

conflict with policy GB24 and when the building is a statutory listed building and the 

conversion to residential use would not harm its special interest, which is not the 

conclusion of the Council's Heritage Officer.   

5.39 Consequently, in principle, this application is contrary to Local Plan policies GB11 and 

GB24, and Core Policy CS29 and paragraphs 83 and 92 of the NPPF. 

Green Belt  

Core Strategy Policies:  

CS1 (The spatial strategy)  

CS29 (Community)  

Local Plan Saved Policies:  

GB1 (Extent of the Green Belt in Chiltern District) 

GB2 (Development in general in the Green Belt)  

GB5 (Residential Development in the Green Belt in Settlements As Defined on the Proposals 

Map)  

GB11 (Re-use of existing Non-Residential Buildings in the Green Belt for Residential Use 

(Class C3)  

GB24 (Redevelopment or Change of Use of Buildings used for the provision of Local 

Community Facilities in the Green Belt)  

Page 16



5.40 With regard to the principle of the proposed change of use from a Public House to a 

Class C3 residential use in the Green Belt, the NPPF states that in principle the re-use 

of existing permanent and substantially constructed buildings may be appropriate 

development providing they preserve the openness of the Green Belt and do not 

conflict with the purposes of including land within it. This building is of permanent and 

substantial construction and the proposed change of use would be likely to result in 

less vehicular activity, fewer parked cars within the site and as such would not harm 

the openness of the Green Belt and its purposes.  

5.41 No alterations are proposed under this application in order to convert the existing 

Public House with ancillary first floor residential accommodation into one dwelling and 

so the proposal would not adversely affect the character and appearance of the Green 

Belt.   

5.42 However, as set out in Local Plan policy GB24, the Council will not allow the change of 

use of a building in the Green Belt that was last used for local community purposes, 

such as a Public House, unless a suitable replacement building is to be provided or it 

can be demonstrated that the facility is no longer required for any other community 

use in the village and adjoining area where the facility is located. As set out above, 

given the Inspector's arguments in respect of The Green Dragon appeal, Members may 

conclude that it has not been demonstrated that all reasonable steps had been taken 

to secure a successful sale or lease of the property as a Public House or to demonstrate 

that a Public House is not a viable concern, contrary to the advice of paragraphs 83 and 

92 of the Framework which seek to guard against the unnecessary loss of valued 

community facilities.  

5.43  Furthermore, Local Plan policy GB11 only allows, in principle, for the re-use of existing 

non-residential buildings in the Green Belt for residential use subject to there being no 

conflict with policy GB24 and when the building is a statutory listed building and the 

conversion to residential use would not harm its special interest, which is not the 

conclusion of the Council's Heritage Officer.  

5.44 Given the foregoing, the proposal is contrary to Local Plan policies GB11 and GB24, 

which are in accordance with the policy advice of paragraphs 83 and 92 of the NPPF.  

Raising the quality of place making and design  

Core Strategy Policies:  

CS4 (Ensuring that the development is sustainable)  

CS20 (Design and environmental quality)  

CS29 (Community)  

Local Plan Saved Policies: 

GC1 (Design of development throughout the district) 

LB1 (Protection of Special Architectural or Historic Interest of Listed Buildings Throughout 

the District) 

LB2 (Protection of Setting of Listed Buildings Throughout the District) 

LB4 (Change of Use of Listed Buildings Throughout the District)  

Page 17



5.45 As mentioned above, the proposed change of use would not involve any external 

alterations to the building. Any material alterations which may be proposed in the 

future would need to be the subject of a separate planning application and/or listed 

building application. 

5.46 However, the application site area is less than that of the original curtilage of this listed 

building, as the rear part of the curtilage is not within this application site. Given that 

this is a listed building, the erection of a fence, wall or other means of enclosure does 

not constitute permitted development and requires express planning permission. 

5.47 Consequently, the only external alterations proposed are the proposed subdivision of 

the site, albeit without the erection of any means of enclosure, resulting in the 

proposed use of the land adjacent to the building as Class C3 residential garden with 

the siting of 2 parking spaces to the rear of the existing building. Consequently, that 

land outside of the application site but within the ownership of the applicants that lies 

to the rear of the application site would continue to have a lawful use in connection 

with the public house. 

5.48 The proposed change of use and the proposed operational development comprising 

the laying out of 2 parking spaces per se would not detrimentally harm the external 

appearance of the building, nor the wider locality, however, the resultant differing uses 

of the application site and the land to the rear that is within the ownership of the 

applicant, subdividing the curtilage of the listed building, would harm the setting of 

this listed building and the spacious character of its historic curtilage. 

Historic environment 

Core Strategy Policies:  
CS4 (Ensuring that development is sustainable)  
Local Plan Saved Policies: 
LB1 (Protection of special architectural or historic interest of Listed Buildings throughout the 
district)  
LB2 (Protection of setting of Listed Buildings throughout the district)  
LB4 (Change of use of Listed Buildings throughout the district) 

 

5.49 The Council's Conservation and Design Officer has considered these proposals and, 

despite additional information being submitted pertaining to likely Building Regulation 

requirements, continues to object to the proposals. 

5.50 The Council's Heritage Officer states that even if the conversion of this public house 

could be undertaken without physical harm to the significance of the designated 

heritage asset, the change of use of this historic public house to a non-public use is a 

concern. The best use for any heritage asset is the one which it was designed for or has 

had for most of its existence, and this building has been used as a public house for 

about 200 years. The proposal would result in the loss of its historical use and the 

public access to view the building, which also provides social and community links with 

the area. 

Page 18



5.51 In summary, the Council's Heritage Officer concludes that the proposal would cause 

less than substantial harm to the significance of the designated heritage asset and 

would not preserve the architectural and historic of this listed building contrary to 

sections 16/66 of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act, 1990, 

section 16 of the NPPF, policies LB1, LB2 and LB4 of the Local Plan and  contrary to 

Historic England guidance as set out in 'Managing Significance in Decision-Taking in the 

Historic Environment- 2015', and 'Making Changes to Heritage Assets- 2016'. 

Amenity of existing and future residents  

Local Plan Saved Policies:  

GC3 (Protection of amenities throughout the district)  

H12 (Private residential garden areas throughout the district)  

5.52 The application does not propose any external alterations or extensions apart from the 

proposed subdivision of the original curtilage of this listed building, reducing the size 

of the former Public House curtilage to form an unenclosed garden and the proposed 

formation of two parking spaces. It is not considered that the proposed change of use 

of the application site from a Public House garden to a private residential garden would 

adversely affect the amenities of neighbouring properties, nor would the traversing of 

2 vehicles to the proposed parking spaces along the existing access way.  

5.53 Accordingly, the proposals would not adversely affect the amenities of the existing 

adjoining properties and would not be detrimental to the amenities of proposed 

residential occupiers, except for the afore-mentioned loss of a community facility, as 

set out above.  

Transport Matters and Parking 

Core Strategy Policies:  

CS25 (Dealing with the impact of new development on the transport network)  

CS26 (Requirements of new development)  

Local Plan Saved Policies:  

TR2 (Highway aspects of planning applications throughout the district)  

TR3 (Access and road layout throughout the district)  

TR11 (Provision of off-street parking for developments throughout the district)  

TR12 (Relaxation of parking standards throughout the district)  

TR14 (Retention of existing areas of off-street vehicle parking throughout the district)  

TR15 (Design of parking areas throughout the district)  

TR16 (Parking and manoeuvring standards throughout the district)  

5.54 With regard to parking provision, the Council's parking guidance for a dwelling of this 

size and in this locality would necessitate the on-site provision of 3 parking spaces. 

Only 2 spaces have been shown on the submitted plans but there is sufficient space 

within the application site to lay out an additional space in compliance with the 

Council's requirements.  In any event, the parking standard for a single dwelling is 

notably less than that for a public house.   

Page 19



5.55 The Highway Authority has advised that the trip generation would be less than a 

functioning pub and so there are no highways objections raised.  

Infrastructure and Developer Contributions   

Core Strategy Policies:  
CS31 (Infrastructure)  

5.56 The development is a type of development where CIL would be chargeable.  

6.0 Weighing and balancing of issues / Overall Assessment  

6.1 In determining the planning application, section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory 

Purchase Act 2004 requires that proposals be determined in accordance with the 

development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. In addition, 

Section 143 of the Localism Act amends Section 70 of the Town and Country Planning 

Act relating to the determination of planning applications and states that in dealing 

with planning applications, the authority shall have regard to:  

a. Provision of the development plan insofar as they are material,  
b. Any local finance considerations, so far as they are material to the application 

(such as CIL if applicable), and,  
c. Any other material considerations. 

6.2 Paragraph 11 of the NPPF sets out the presumption in favour of sustainable 

development which for decision taking means approving development proposals that 

accord with up to date development plan policies without delay, or granting 

permission unless the application of policies in the NPPF that protect areas or assets 

of particular importance provide a clear reason for refusing the development 

proposed, or any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 

outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a 

whole. 

6.3 As set out above it is considered that the proposed development would not accord 

with adopted Local Plan policies LB1, LB2, and LB4 and these policies are wholly 

consistent with the NPPF. There would be less than significant harm to the listed 

building, to which great weight is given.  

6.4 Furthermore, the proposed development would not accord with adopted Local Plan 

policies GB11 and GB24, and Core Policy CS29 and these policies are wholly consistent 

with the NPPF, in particular paragraphs 83 and 92. 

6.5 It is therefore necessary to consider whether the public benefits of the scheme would 

outweigh the great weight given to the harm to the listed building, the harm to the 

Green Belt and the harm to the local community.  

6.6 There would be short term economic benefits from the refurbishment but there would 

be no overall increase in a residential unit, although the proposed residential unit 

would be larger than the existing, ancillary unit. The new dwelling would contribute to 

the Council's housing land supply. 

Page 20



6.7 There would, however, be a significant loss to the local economy from the proposed 

loss of a Public House, which reduces the need to travel, and where it has not been 

demonstrated that the building could not continue to viably operate as a pub or as a 

Community run pub.  

6.8 Also, less than substantial harm would result to this listed building. 

6.9 Paragraph 193 of the NPPF states that great weight should be given to an asset's 

conservation, irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial 

harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance. 

6.10 Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the 

significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the 

public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum 

viable use.  

6.11 As stated above, this proposal would not secure the optimum use of the building, and 

would be detrimental to the community, and in the absence of it being demonstrated 

that the building could not continue to operate viably as a pub or community run pub, 

the proposed benefits would not outweigh the limited public benefits identified.  

6.12 In the terms of applying paragraph 11 (c ) of the NPPF it is concluded that the proposal 

does not accord with policies LB1, LB2 and LB4 and chapter 16 of the NPPF and policies 

GB11, GB24 and CS29 and paragraphs 83 and 92 of the NPPF.   

6.13 The following recommendation is made having regard to the above and also to the 

content of the Human Rights Act 1998.  

7.0 Working with the applicant / agent  

7.1 In accordance with paragraph 38 of the NPPF (2019) the Council approach decision-

taking in a positive and creative way taking a proactive approach to development 

proposals focused on solutions and work proactively with applicants to secure 

developments. As such, the opportunity was given for amended proposals and 

additional information to be submitted but those received are still unacceptable to the 

Council as set out above.  

7.2 In this instance: 

 The applicant/agent chose not to seek any pre-application advice, and the 

applicant/agent was updated of issues after the initial site visit. 

 The applicant was provided the opportunity to submit amendments to the 

scheme/address issues.  

 The application was determined without delay.  

 The applicant was informed/ advised how the proposal did not accord with the 

development plan, that no material considerations are apparent to outweigh 

these matters and provided the opportunity to amend the application or provide 

further justification in support of it.  

Page 21



8.0 Conclusions 

8.1 To conclude, the proposed scheme is considered unacceptable and is recommended 

for REFUSAL.  

9.0 Recommendation: Refuse permission 

For the following reasons:- 

1. The proposed change of use of a Public House to a dwellinghouse would result in the loss of 

a local service and community facility that fulfils a local function and reduces the need to 

travel, and for which there is a demonstrable need. The loss of this local amenity would have 

adverse impacts to the local economy and social wellbeing of residents within the settlement 

of Ley Hill and would not be outweighed by the benefits of the scheme. Furthermore, it has 

not been demonstrated that all reasonable steps, including marketing, or alternative 

business models, have been explored to retain its present use and community value as a 

viable concern. The proposal therefore conflicts with policies GB11 and GB24 of the Chiltern 

Local Plan, adopted 1 September 1997 (including alterations adopted 29 May 2011), 

consolidated September 2007 and November 2011; Policy CS29 of the Core Strategy for 

Chiltern District (Adopted November 2011); and the National Planning Policy Framework 

(2019), particularly paragraphs 83 and 92. 

 

2. The change of use of the Public House would result in the loss of its historical use and the 

public access to view the building, which also provides social and community links with the 

area.  Furthermore, the proposed subdivision of the historic curtilage would cause harm to 

the setting of the listed building.  Paragraph 196 of the NPPF therefore applies, but in 

applying this policy/ guidance it is considered that no public benefits outweigh that harm. 

Consequently, the proposal conflicts with Section 16 of the National Planning Policy 

Framework (2019), the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and 

policies LB1, LB2 and LB4 of the Chiltern District Local Plan adopted 1 September 1997 

(including alterations adopted 29 May 2011), consolidated September 2007 and November 

2011, and 'Managing Significance in Decision-Taking in the Historic Environment - 2015, and 

Making Changes to Heritage Assets - 2016.  

Page 22



APPENDIX A:  Consultation Responses and Representations 

 

PARISH COUNCIL 

Latimer and Ley Hill Parish Council:  Objection as follows: 

‘Latimer and Ley Hill Parish Council urges the planning committee to reject this application for 

change of use from a public house to single dwelling. The Swan Public House was made an Asset of 

Community Value in November 2018 because the Parish Council strongly believes that this beautiful 

500-year-old pub must remain an intrinsic part of the local community.  

Core Strategy Policy CS29 states The Council will ‘only permit the loss of community facilities in 

exceptional circumstances.’. however, no rationale has been put forward to demonstrate the 

exceptional circumstances of this case.  

The Swan has been a public house for the entirety of the village’s current living memory (i.e. well 

over 140+ years at least) therefore the supposed ‘beneficiaries’ of this change of use have never 

known it as a dwelling and there is no demand or appetite for it, quite the opposite.  

The Swan has served all sections of the local community for so many years as:  

1. a restaurant where many families, friends, groups and local organisations celebrate their big 

occasions  

2. a place where young families can meet up to relax with their children in the attractive rear garden  

3. a business, offering work experience and employment opportunities for many local people of all 

ages  

4. a meeting space for local organisations like the Cricket Club and the Rotary Club  

5. a host venue for darts, cribbage, quiz and domino competitions  

6. an important historic building, where local school children can visit to learn about village history   

7. a popular destination for walkers, cyclists, horse riders to enjoy refreshments  

8. an attraction for lovers of real ale like members of CAMRA  

9. the joint venue of a nationally renowned Music and Beer Festival every August 10.but most of all 

simply a pub where people can pop in for a relaxing drink and a chat with friends 

The National Planning Policy Framework states in Para 92. To provide the social, recreational and 

cultural facilities and services the community needs, planning policies and decisions should: plan 

positively for the provision and use of shared spaces, community facilities (such as local shops, 

meeting places, sports venues, open space, cultural buildings, public houses and places of worship) 

and other local services to enhance the sustainability of communities and residential environments;  

And Supporting a prosperous rural economy Para 83. Planning policies and decisions should enable 

the retention and development of accessible local services and community facilities, such as local 

shops, meeting places, sports venues, open space, cultural buildings, public houses and places of 

worship.  

Page 23



However, not only the local community but visitors from further afield, have been denied these 

opportunities over the last five years as the pub’s potential has not been maximised: 

• Opening hours have become irregular and greatly reduced  

• Entry rules have become more stringent  

• And most significantly, customers have sensed an unfriendly welcome and atmosphere 

 
The Parish Council has been actively encouraging measures to tackle social isolation and to promote 
the health and well-being of parishioners and would use the Swan as a venue for small groups to 
meet and learn new skills. We have just installed seating around the Beacon and an activity trail in 
the wooded area close by, to attract both locals and visitors, who will undoubtedly seek 
refreshments at the pub.  
 

The level of encouragement received by the Parish Council, from parish surveys, to nominate the 

Swan as an Asset of Community Value and the multitude of objections from local people posted on 

the planning website are overwhelming evidence that our parishioners believe that to lose the Swan 

Public House would be a significant loss of a highly valued community asset.  

Such is the strength of feeling that The Save Our Swan group, working with the Plunkett Foundation, 

have received amazing support from over 100 local people, pledging a significant amount of money 

towards the community purchase of the pub.  

Don’t write the Swan off as being unviable! With significant housing developments happening just 

over the Parish Boundary in Bovingdon in the coming years, the demand for places where people 

can socialise is only going to increase thus allowing the Swan to have an even greater potential! 

Please allow the community the chance to install new management and bring this wonderful pub 

back to life preserving it and its legacy for future generations to come!’ 

Additional Comments: 

‘Yet again I feel I must respond to Mr Steven Parry's (Applicant's agent) wholly inaccurate and 

disparaging response to the multitude of objections made on this site to the Change of Use 

Application of the Swan Public House, Ley Hill. He states that "the third-party submissions are similar 

to those received previously ...... and are entirely concerned with the loss of the use of the public 

house." Why is he surprised at this? Right from the first application of September 2018, to the 

second application for change of use to two properties and then to this present application in 2020, 

the whole community has remained consistently steadfast in its bid to save the Swan as a public 

house! These numerous submissions continue to reaffirm the wish of the local community to re-

energise this beautiful building back to the hub of the community as it has been for so much of its 

life!  

This enthusiasm was relayed to Latimer and Ley Hill Parish Council not only via a parish survey for 

improvements to the parish but also via a wider survey conducted by the Save Our Swan action 

group. Consequently, the Parish Council nominated the Swan as an Asset of Community Value, 

which was successfully granted in November 2018. Surely these actions only go to prove how vital 

the Swan as a public house, is to the community! Mr Parry goes on to address the question of 

viability. Has he not read the MJD Hughes report, commissioned by the SOS group and ratified by 

the Plunkett Foundation, which has been posted? MJD Hughes states: The viability of the pub 

presented in both the Underwoods LLP and Bruton Knowles reports are not balanced opinions. Both 

Page 24



reports, in their own way only look at the viability for the current owner rather than the viability of 

the site as a pub. The viability of a public house should be looked at as an operating entity rather 

than the method of operation. The requirements of an owner who is looking to operate the site is 

different from an owner who is not wishing to utilise the property for its designated use as this will 

impose on their life-style choices. Whilst we agree with many of the calculations in the other viability 

reports submitted as to the fair maintainable trade, we cannot agree with the methodology that 

has been used to prove viability. The question of viability should be answered by the most efficient 

method of operation for the site rather than restrictions on turnover, gross profit, or operation 

methods that are unique to only a certain owner. The method of operation during the last 3-4 years 

and prior to the business closing meant that the operator didn't maximise the pub's potential. In 

addition, with lower turnover, poor control of costs and gross profit, and reduced opening hours 

this meant there was little excess that could be re-invested back into the business. The result is an 

artificially controlled downward spiral of turnover and profitability. From our investigations and 

illustrations outlined in this report and using over 30 years' experience in the licensed trade as both 

an operator and providing professional property services, our conclusion is that The Swan provides 

the opportunity for a viable public house In conclusion, The Swan is a viable public house that has 

been repeatedly marketed at well above its market value. Continuation of The Swan as a public 

house is the best commercial use of the property."  

This same report also addresses the marketing question: "The asking price that the property has 

been repeatedly marketed at is well above its market value. An assessment on inflated asking price 

for the property does not provide a true reflection of viability. Marketing at such a high price should 

not be taken into consideration when assessing any periods of marketing for sale at an unachievable 

price. In conclusion, The Swan is a viable public house that has been repeatedly marketed at well 

above its market value. Continuation of The Swan as a public house is the best commercial use of 

the property" Nigel Byatt, the owner, states that: "after the sale of the pub fell through, all those 

who had previously enquired during the period it was under offer, were recontacted by the agent 

to advise that the property had become available again. However, none of these enquirers showed 

further interest." Why was he surprised? Potential buyers are not prepared to wait for so long and 

people's circumstances change! I would also dispute the fact that the Swan had been "continuously, 

aggressively and professionally marketed" Nigel Byatt also stated that "If anybody enquired during 

the time The Swan was under offer (to the buyers who were seeking conversion to a Nursery only), 

their details were taken but they would have been advised that progress could not be made with 

their enquiry while the property was under offer and contracts were being negotiated. In these 

instances, a viewing would have been inappropriate and unethical....".  

The duration The Swan was under offer was more than 17 months (December 2017 - April 2019) - 

therefore for more than 17 months when it was 'apparently' on the market, it was certainly not 

being marketed "continuously, aggressively and professionally". And there was never a For Sale sign 

erected outside the pub bringing it to the attention of everyone! Surely this is standard practice if 

someone genuinely wants the pub to remain open!  

When addressing the hostility to customers objection, Mr Parry states that anecdotal remarks have 

been recycled and have been made by people with no personal experience. I vehemently reject this 

assumption! I am regularly told by past customers of the Swan that if a friendly landlord were to 

take over the Swan then they would certainly return to the pub! Local people are desperate to revisit 

this wonderful building, but they expect to experience a welcoming atmosphere. I personally 

Page 25



experienced a cold welcome on several occasions and notably in a group of 8 people wanting to 

have several drinks one evening but was told to drink up as he was closing early. Consequently, this 

group did not visit again! It would seem fair to assume that the owners were deliberately running 

down the business when customers stop visiting the pub due to the unfriendly atmosphere and 

decreasing opening hours. Does Mr Parry have evidence that the stated opening hours were 

adhered to? There are many local people including myself, who live very close to the Swan and who 

walk and drive past daily, that have witnessed the closure of the pub during these published hours. 

No wonder people do not return to the pub when they arrive to closed doors! And how can a pub 

remain closed and the landlord give up the opportunity of income as occurred on November 11th 

2018 when nearly 500 people attended the celebration of the centenary of the end of WW1 around 

the Beacon only 50m from the pub! Is this really the action of a landlord who desperately wants to 

keep the pub open? Mr Parry also mentions Trip Advisor reviews- Although they are few, the 

positive comments surely demonstrate that the Swan is actually viable if run correctly? And isn't it 

common knowledge that locals tend not to review their local pubs? I think he may be clutching at 

straws when using this as a defence. When stating that other community uses of the Swan have 

failed, he is referring to the previous application for change of use to a nursery. Although a nursery 

qualifies as a community use in this area, a nursery is NOT a venue where all sections of the 

community, young and old can socialise! He comments that because the Crown is open the 

community can still benefit from a public house. The Swan and the Crown pubs have run alongside 

each other very successfully for many years with both providing a different offering. The SOS action 

group have been working very hard over the last 6 months, receiving over a 100 pledges, to be in 

the financial position to make a bid for the purchase of the Swan with the intention of making it a 

real community hub to tackle the problems of loneliness and social isolation in the local area. I would 

strongly argue that National and local policy statements have not been met. 1. Core Strategy Policy 

- CS29 - The Council will only permit the loss of community facilities in exceptional circumstances. Is 

changing the Swan into a residential property when the community can buy it and keep it running 

REALLY an exceptional circumstance? 2. National Planning Policy Framework Paragraph 92 to 

provide the social, recreational and cultural facilities and services the community needs, planning 

policies should plan positively for the provision and use of ......... public houses ......... to enhance the 

sustainability of communities ....... 3. NPPF Paragraph 83 Support a prosperous rural economy - 

Planning policies and decisions should enable the retention and development of accessible local 

services and community facilities such as ....... public houses. This is exactly what the Parish Council 

and the Save Our Swan group plan to do with the purchase of the Swan. 4. Policy GB24, the Council 

will not allow .... change of use of a building ...... which was last used for local community purposes 

....... unless .... it can be demonstrated to the Council that the facility is no longer required for any 

other community use in the village and adjoining area where the facility is located. I think the SOS 

team have more than demonstrated that this facility (the Swan) is STILL required for community 

use! In conclusion it is evident that Mr Parry has little understanding of the determination of the 

community to save the Swan and return it to being the vibrant hub of the village and local area. 

Obviously, myself as Chairman of Latimer & Ley Hill Parish Council, Councillor Andrew Garth of 

Chiltern Council and Gareth Williams, Cabinet Member for Communities and Public Health, 

Buckinghamshire Council would not be objecting to this planning application if they did not 

wholeheartedly support the retention of the Swan as a public house.’ 

 

 

Page 26



REPRESENTATIONS 

Objection letters have been received from 96 different addresses as well as the organisation ‘Save 

Our Swan’ and Ley Hill Community Pub, and they are summarised as follows: 

 The Swan is a popular community facility; 

 Local people would be willing to purchase The Swan as a community PH and the owner has 

indicated that he will consider a reasonable offer if this application is refused; 

 A business plan has been prepared by the Save Our Swan group; 

 The Save the Swan group should be given the opportunity to purchase and maintain this 

community asset; 

 Erroneous comparison in viability statement to The Pig in the Pantry, which is part of a chain 

selling cheap convenience food, reference should be made to The Bell in Bovingdon and the 

Bricklayers Arms in Flaunden; 

 The PH is viable; 

 Previously 2 prospective investors were interested in purchasing the PH but their interest 

was not pursued; 

 The premises were not marketed until after the nursery application was withdrawn on 18 

April 2019 i.e. less than a year before the withdrawn application was submitted; 

 The Swan was marketed at an unrealistically high price; 

 Unwelcoming management has contributed to the decline of the PH;  

 The Swan is no longer welcoming, closing at 21.30 hours and after lunch on a Sunday, or 

earlier than advertised, dog walkers and hikers are not welcomed and half of the pub garden 

has been closed off; 

 The Council’s expert surveyor has only used the information in the flawed report submitted 

by the agent. 

 The Swan as a Public House is a significant and historic feature, it is 500 years old and the 

oldest PH in the County, which should be protected;  

 Popular Music and Beer Festival, Classic Car Festival, The Beacon, and other events take 

place in the village; 

 The Swan has provided important employment opportunities, particularly for young people 

and those needing to work shifts; 

 Detrimental to Listed Building; 

 The Parish Council would like to use the PH for community purposes and have stated a list 

of intentions and initiatives; 

 Proposed extensions would cause loss of privacy; 

 Planning Statement submitted is flawed e.g. competition from Cricket Club and Golf Club 

which are both private members’ clubs. 

 
One neutral letter has been received stating that if the Public House is to be lost, the attractive 

external appearance of this listed building should be maintained. 

Two letters of support have been received stating that given the national trend and the decrease in 

patronage at this Public House, it will never be viable again and so sensible to return the Historic 

building to its original function as a dwelling, especially given adjacent community facility Public 

House. 

Page 27



A viability report has also been received from MJD Hughes on behalf of ‘Save Our Swan’ a 

community benefit society comprising the community local to the application property. The report 

may be read in full on the Council’s Public Access and includes the following comments. 

 Prior to lockdown the trade at The Swan was declining due to mismanagement and/or erratic 

and reduced opening hours; 

 Ley Hill has a strong community spirit in which The Swan played an important part; 

 The Swan is a privately owned and operated freehold and can reasonably operate at a gross 

profit of 65%; 

 Concludes that The Swan is a viable public house and has closed and been run down due to 

a life style choice of the owners. 

 Unrealistically high marketing price. 

 

CONSULTATIONS 

Highways:  No objection subject to the imposition of a condition and 2 informatives 

Archaeology:  No objection and no conditions required. 

Conservation and Listed Buildings Officer:  Objection as follows: 

Summary 

It is considered that the proposed change of use of this building from a public house to a single 

residential unit would cause ‘less than substantial harm’ to the social and community significance 

of the heritage asset and potentially to the setting and historic fabric of the designated heritage 

asset.  Paragraph 196 therefore applies; in applying this policy/ guidance it is considered that no 

public benefits outweigh that harm. Paragraphs 184/189/190/192/193/194/195 have all also been 

considered in this advice. The proposals are also contrary to Chiltern Local Plan policies LB 1 and LB 

2 and LB4 

Heritage Assets 

This is a grade II listed building on the edge of Leyhill Common. There are other listed buildings 

nearby, including Orchard Cottage a few properties to the north and Cherry Tree and Crab Tree 

Farms on the east side of the road, also there are a group of listed buildings around the southern 

end of the common. The southern end of the common is the boundary of the Chiltern Area of 

Outstanding Natural Beauty. 

Relevant planning history 

Three recent applications for a change of use to public house to a day nursery and to two semi-

detached houses were refused. Prior to that there were a number of historical applications for the 

alteration and extension of the public house. 

Discussion 

The heritage assessment is the impact on the significance the special historic and architectural 

interest of the listed building.  This advice was updated from the advice provided on 21.1.2021, 

following the submission of further information from the agent.  

Page 28



Significance  

The Swan PH dates from the 16th century. The northern two timber framed bays were constructed 

in 1520, with the southern brick wing added in 1680. Part of the building was used as a PH from at 

least 1843, and by 1881, the entire building was used as a pub. The building sits on the edge of the 

common; an area of public open space on the edge of the village, and views across the green to the 

building and its open rural setting are part of its significance. 

This attractive composition of historic buildings is prominently located facing onto the common. The 

earlier timber framed building has a timber fronted gable to the right with a thin brick 17th century 

stack behind, with the main entrance in the central bay. To the left/ south is the later brick wing, 

the gable end of which faces the road. Although the building has been altered over the years, the 

building retains many original features including the exposed timber frame, a narrow winding 

staircase, original plan form and many old doors etc. This building has been in use a public house 

for around 200 years, allowing the ‘public’ an opportunity to enter and enjoy its history and 

character, and this is an important part of the significance of the building.  

Evidential Value 

With any building of this age, especially one with such a long public history, there will be 

considerable evidential and archaeological evidence in the structure, including of how the use of 

the building as a public house has evolved over time, and the ability of the public to access and 

appreciate the evidence of the buildings evolution, which it is important to protect. 

Historical Value 

Again, due to the prolonged use of this building as a public house, there is an extensive local 

community history in this building. Paragraph 45 of Conservation Principals states that;  

‘The use and appropriate management of a place for its original purpose, for example as a place of 

recreation or worship, or, like a watermill, as a machine, illustrates the relationship between design 

and function, and so may make a major contribution to its historical values. If so, cessation of that 

activity will diminish those values and, in the case of some specialised landscapes and buildings, may 

essentially destroy them.’ 

Aesthetic Value 

Aesthetic value derives from the ways in which people draw sensory and intellectual stimulation 

from a place. The ability for the public to use the building as a public house and to enjoy this historic 

building with its historic architecture which has evolved over the centuries of its use and patina of 

age, would be lost by the proposed conversion.  

Communal Value 

The use of this building as a public house for around two centuries has given this building a high 

communal value.  The building is an important part of the history of the village, so many people 

have important connections to events that occurred in the building and historical records such as 

photographs illustrate that emotional connection to the building.  

The building has been designated as ‘an asset of community value.’ 

Page 29



Description of proposed works 

This building has been in use a public house since at least 1843, but probably much longer. Following 

the refusal of the previous applications for the change of use to a children’s nursery, and later to 

divide the property in half to provide two semi-detached houses, with extensions, it is now proposed 

to use the building as a single detached house. The application also proposes to add a fence close 

to the rear elevation of the building to subdivide the rear garden. 

No listed building consent application has been submitted with this application as the agents advise 

that no physical alterations to the listed building will be necessary. 

Assessment 

Following the refusal of the applications to use the existing public house as a nursery, and later to 

two semi-detached houses, it is now proposed to convert the building to a single detached house. 

There are only two staircases in the building at present; one is an ancient narrow winding stair 

alongside the main stack a second in the northern part of the building is an external fire escape.  

The ancient winding staircase around the stack is very steep and dangerous but is a very important 

part of the history and significance of the building and must be retained. An unsightly external fire 

escape staircase is located close by and both are a long way from the furthest bedroom. It would be 

very surprising if Building Control agree to the conversion to a single dwelling without a shorter and 

safer means of escape, and if the building is converted to a single house the retention of the external 

fire escape would be incongruous.  

As the building is listed there are likely to be relaxations under the building regulations on the 

thermal insulation of the building, which would otherwise be required for such a change of use.   

No listed building consent application has been submitted with this application as the agents have 

stated that there will be no physical alterations to the building. However, some physical alterations 

are likely be necessary; to provide safer more convenient access to the first floor, to remove the 

external stairs, it is also likely that, to facilitate the residential use, the bar area will be required to 

be sub-divided, new bathrooms added insulation improved etc. It is unclear at this stage what the 

implications will be on the significance of the heritage asset.     

A fence has been constructed recently to subdivide the rear garden of the public house; it is assumed 

as a separate building plot, but planning permission does not appear to have been applied for, and 

is required as it is a means of enclosure surrounding a listed building.  Just two cramped parking 

spaces have been identified on the submitted plans; for what would be a substantial detached 

house, and the reduction of the rear garden leaves little room for turning or a garage, particularly if 

the drive provides access to other new housing on the plot at the rear. The division of the public 

house garden to form a separate plot at the rear- included within the blue line on the application, 

but not proposed for the change of use, is also a concern in terms of the open setting of the listed 

building, which could be harmed if this site is proposed for development. 

Even if the conversion of this public house and ‘asset of community value’ to a single residential unit 

could be undertaken without physical harm to the significance of the designated heritage asset, the 

change of use of this historic public house to a non-public use is a concern. It is considered that the 

proposed change of use would impact the evidential, historical, aesthetic and communal values of 

Page 30



this building, all have important parts of the significance of the building, the loss of which would 

cause harm to the significance of the designated heritage asset. The best use for any heritage asset 

is the one which it was designed for or has had for most of its existence; in this case its use as a 

public house for around 200 years. The loss of its historical use and the public access to view the 

interior of the building, which also provides social and community links with the area, is therefore 

considered to cause harm to the ‘less than substantial harm to the significance of the designated 

heritage asset.  

The Heritage Statement submitted by the applicant states that; ‘Parts of the Swan have been a pub 

since at least the 1840’s and probably a lot earlier. Although the Swan started out life as three 

conjoined cottages, it has had a longstanding historic function as a pub, serving as a social space for 

the community to meet. The conversion back to a residential building would change the function as 

a public house would be lost, but it would return the building to its original function. The loss of its 

current use would mean that the communal and social connection the Swan has with the Leyhill 

area would be lost, and so would result in less than substantial harm. However, this harm would be 

outweighed by the benefits of (a) converting the building back to its original use as cottages and (b) 

securing the long term future of the building’ 

It is helpful that the applicant acknowledges the ‘less than substantial harm’ to the significance of 

the heritage asset. However, it is considered that in view of the established use of the cottages for 

around two centuries as a public house, and the extent of the buildings significance which is derived 

from that use, the reinstatement of the use of use to cottages residential is considered to cause 

more harm than benefit. The risk to the ‘long term future of the building’ is unclear, so this benefit 

again cannot be balanced against the harm. It is understood that this building has continued to 

operate as a public house, when permissible in view of the current pandemic, and although the 

viability reports are gloomy, the building has operated successfully in the past and we do not know 

what possibilities may present themselves after this pandemic.  

When I last visited the building it was in reasonable state of repair and no evidence has been 

provided of disrepair by the agents that this is a ‘building at risk’. It is not considered that the public 

benefits to the change of use which have been put forward by the agents, outweigh the ‘less than 

substantial harm’ which has been identified by all parties.  

It is considered that the proposed change of use of this building from a public house to a single 

residential unit would cause ‘less than substantial harm’ to the social and community significance 

of the heritage asset and potentially to the setting and historic fabric of the designated heritage 

asset.  Paragraph 196 of the NPPF therefore applies; in applying this policy/ guidance it is considered 

that no public benefits outweigh that harm. Paragraphs 184/189/190/192/193/194/196 have all 

also been considered in this advice. The Chiltern Local Plan policies LB 1 and LB 2 also apply and 

Policy LB4 states that; New uses for Listed Buildings will be permitted if all (my emphasis) of the 

following criteria are met: 

(i) It has been demonstrated to the Council's satisfaction that the existing use cannot reasonably be 

continued.  

(ii) The Special Architectural or Historic Interest of the Listed Building would not be adversely 

affected.  When assessing the impact of the change of use of the Listed Building, particular attention 

Page 31



will be paid to the implications of possible alterations and additions on the structure of the building, 

its appearance, its setting and on any other features of Special Architectural or Historic Interest 

which it may possess.  

It may be argued that; (i) the viability of the use as a public house is in doubt, but it is considered 

that (ii) The Special Architectural or Historic Interest of the Listed Building will be adversely affected, 

therefore the proposals are contrary to LB4. 

Heritage Policy Assessment 

The Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 

The proposals would not preserve the architectural and historic interest of the listed building and 

therefore does not comply with sections 16/66 of the Act. 

NPPF 

Paragraphs 184/189/190/192/193/194/196 have all also been considered in this advice  

Local Plan 

Polices LB 1, LB 2  

Policy LB4 states that; New uses for Listed Buildings will be permitted if all of the following criteria 

are met: 

(i) It has been demonstrated to the Council's satisfaction that the existing use cannot reasonably be 

continued.  

(ii) The Special Architectural or Historic Interest of the Listed Building would not be adversely 

affected.  When assessing the impact of the change of use of the Listed Building, particular attention 

will be paid to the implications of possible alterations and additions on the structure of the building, 

its appearance, its setting and on any other features of Special Architectural or Historic Interest 

which it may possess.  

(iii) The environmental impact of the change of use upon the special interest of the Listed Building 

would be acceptable. The amount and type of pedestrian and vehicular traffic likely to be generated 

and the off-street parking requirements should not harm the special interest of the building. 

(iv) Other policies in this Local Plan should also be complied with. This Policy applies throughout the 

District.   

13.21 Generally the best use for a Listed Building is the use for which it was originally designed.   

However, in some cases new uses for Listed Buildings may be permitted in order to secure their 

continued preservation. This policy seeks to ensure that a change from the original use is clearly 

justified and that the new use does not harm the special interest of the Listed Building.  In this way 

where changes of use are proposed Listed Buildings should be preserved.  This is consistent with 

Government advice. The third clause in the policy broadens the assessment of the effects on the 

special interest of Listed Buildings by taking a range of other aspects of environment into account 

as appropriate to the type of use proposed’.   

 

Page 32



Historic England Guidance 

Managing Significance in Decision-Taking in the Historic Environment- 2015, and Making Changes 

to Heritage Assets- 2016 

Conclusion 

For the reasons given above it is felt that in heritage terms: 

That the application does not comply with the relevant heritage policy and guidance, and therefore 

it should be refused for this reason. 

 

 

  

Page 33



APPENDIX B:  Site Location Plan 

 

 

Do not scale – this map is indicative only 

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with permission of the Controller of Her Majesty’s Stationary Office © Crown Copyright 2012. 

Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Buckinghamshire Council, PSMA Licence 

Number 100023578 

Page 34



Buckinghamshire Council 
www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk  

 

 

 

Report to East Area Planning Committee 

Application Number: PL/20/4132/FA 

Proposal: Demolition of existing dwelling and detached garage and 

erection of new dwelling.  

Site Location: Slievmore, 84 Denham Lane, Chalfont St Peter, 
Buckinghamshire, SL9 0ES 
 

Applicant: Mr Hill 

Case Officer: Charenjit Braich 

Ward(s) affected: Chalfont St Peter 

Parish-Town Council: Chalfont St Peter 

Date valid application received: 7 December 2020 

Statutory determination date: 11 March 2021 

Recommendation Conditional Permission 

1.0 Summary & Recommendation/ Reason for Planning Committee Consideration 

1.1 Permission is sought for the erection of a replacement dwelling following demolition 

of the existing dwelling and detached garage. 

1.2 The application is before Committee as the Local Member Councillor Mrs Smith has 

called the application in, if the officer recommendation is for approval.  

1.3 The recommendation for the proposal is to grant conditional permission. 

2.0 Description of Proposed Development 

2.1 This application proposes the demolition of the existing dwelling and detached garage 

and the erection of a new dwelling. The proposed replacement dwelling would be 

detached and two storeys, with accommodation within the roofspace. The dwelling 

would be characterised by a crown roof, with three front projecting gables and a rear 

dormer. It would have a maximum depth of 14.3 metres and minimum depth of 12.8m, 

a width of 11 metres and height of 8.5 metres. 

2.2 The proposed replacement dwelling would be constructed in line with the existing 

building line, however the forward projecting gables would project 0.5m and 1.5m 

from the building line. 

Page 35

Agenda Item 5

http://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/


2.3 The new dwelling would reduce the flank to boundary separation gaps to 1.35 to 1.05 

metres at the south flank boundary (adjoining No. 86) and 1.35m to 1.2m to the north 

flank boundary (adjoining No. 82). The dwelling would be finished with painted white 

render with dark grey UPVC windows and red clay roof tiles. 

2.4 The application is accompanied by:  

a) Preliminary Bat Roost Assessment  

b) Biodiversity enhancement plan 

3.0 Relevant Planning History 

3.1 CH/1991/0881/FA – Conditional permission granted on 2 August 1991 – Construction 

of rear conservatory. 

4.0 Policy Considerations and Evaluation 

 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), February 2019. 

 National Design Guidance, October 2019 

 Core Strategy for Chiltern District - Adopted November 2011:  

 Chiltern District Local Plan adopted 1 September 1997 (including alterations adopted 
29 May 2001), consolidated September 2007 and November 2011.  

 Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) - Adopted 21 February 
2012 

 Chiltern and South Bucks Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule 
 

Principle and Location of Development 

 Core Strategy Policies: 

 CS1 (The spatial strategy),  

 CS2 (Amount and distribution of residential development 2006-2026),  

 Local Plan Saved Policies:  

 H3 (Provision of new dwellings in the built-up areas excluded from the Green Belt 
(other than in accordance with Policies H2, H4 & H7)),  

4.1 The site is located in the built up area of Chalfont St Peter where, in accordance with 

Development Plan Policy H3, proposals for replacement dwellings are acceptable in 

principle, provided the proposed development is compatible with the character of the 

area by respecting the general density, scale, siting, height and character of buildings 

in the locality and the presence of trees, shrubs, lawns and verges and the size, design 

and external appearance of the dwelling should be compatible with existing dwellings. 

4.2 In addition, Core Strategy Policy CS20 also states that the Council will require that new 

development within the District is of a high standard of design which reflects and 

respects the character of the surrounding area and those features which contribute to 

local distinctiveness. All other relevant Development Plan Policies should be complied 

with.  

4.3 Given the part demolished nature of the site as it currently stands, the remaining built 

form on site would need to be demolished. 

Page 36



Raising the quality of place making and design 

Core Strategy Policies: 
CS4 (Ensuring that the development is sustainable) 
CS20 (Design and environmental quality) 
Local Plan Saved Policies:  
GC1 (Design of development throughout the district) 
GC4 (Landscaping throughout the district) 
H11 (Distance between flank elevation(s) of a proposed multi-storey dwelling and boundary 
of dwelling's curtilage throughout the district) 

4.4 It should be noted that demolition of the existing property did commence, where the 

applicant has removed the roof and cleared the inside of the property, however 

following clarification from the planning services, that demolition should not take 

place until a replacement dwelling is secured by way of planning permission, the 

applicant ceased works. The application property consisted of a two storey detached 

dwelling that was characterised with a centrally pitched hipped roof, two storey gable 

projections and a cat slide roof to the front elevation. The dwelling benefits from off 

road parking to the front driveway and is set within a long rectangular shaped curtilage. 

Specifically, the application site is located within a row of predominantly two storey 

properties, which are both detached and semi-detached in nature. There is a linear 

arrangement of properties along both sides of Denham Lane and there is a fairly 

consistent build line, although properties are mixed in character, appearances and 

scale. Roberts wood Primary school is located on the opposite side of the road. The 

application site is situated within the built up area of Chalfont St Peter and is not in a 

Conservation Area, nor the Metropolitan Green Belt. The Chiltern and South Bucks 

Townscape Character Study identifies the area as a Suburban typology area. 

4.5 The replacement dwelling would introduce a dwelling that has 3 floors internally, 

where the 2nd floor would be provided within the roof space. As such the appearance 

of the dwelling would mimic a two storey dwelling. There are no alterations proposed 

to the curtilage of the replacement dwelling.  The replacement dwelling would have a 

similar siting to the existing dwelling, and would include a forward projecting gable 

with gabled features and would be visible from the street scene of Denham Lane. The 

dwelling would at its deepest point have the same depth as the deepest point of the 

existing dwelling at 14.3m. The width of the proposed dwelling would be increased by 

2.1m, and would be 11m. The new dwelling would reduce the flank to boundary 

separation gaps to 1.35 to 1.05 metres at the south flank boundary (adjoining No. 86) 

and 1.35m to 1.2m to the north flank boundary (adjoining No. 82). Whist the 

separation distances are reduced, it should be noted that the remaining distances 

meet the requirements of policy H11 and are therefore considered acceptable.  

4.6 The existing footprint of the dwelling and detached garage is approximately 103sqm, 

the replacement dwelling would have a footprint of approx. 150sqm. Whilst the 

replacement dwelling includes a greater amount of accommodation and would be of 

a larger scale, the dwelling would be of a similar appearance in terms of size and scale 

to other properties in Denham Lane and would be finished with materials which would 

integrate with the wider locality and not appear uncharacteristic or alien in the street 

Page 37



scene. In addition, it is considered that there would be sufficient space around the 

dwelling such that it would not appear cramped within its plot or give rise to the 

appearance of visual coalescence.  

4.7 The form and design of the dwelling has however been substantially altered with the 

main roof of the dwelling increased in height by 1.48m and transformed to have a 

hipped roof with gable projections, which would be set down from the main ridgeline 

of the dwelling.  Whist the height of the dwelling would be set higher than its 

immediate neighbours, it appears that the overall height of 8.5m and roof design 

would be similar to other replacement and extended dwellings within Denham Road, 

namely No.16, No 34, and No 43. For this reason, it is considered that the altered form 

and design of the dwelling would respect the character and appearance of dwellings 

in the locality. Further, the proposed replacement dwelling would be considered to be 

an improvement on the existing dwelling which was not overly characteristic or 

'special' in terms of design or materials. The proposed dwelling would be considered 

to integrate acceptably within the application plot and surrounding dwellings by virtue 

of the size, bulk, scale and positioning. 

Amenity of existing and future residents 

Local Plan Saved Policies:  
GC3 (Protection of amenities throughout the district) 
H14 (Safeguarding the amenities of neighbours) 
H12 (Private residential garden areas throughout the district) 

4.8 Policy GC3 of the Local Plan seeks to achieve good standards of amenity for the future 

occupiers of development and to protect the amenities enjoyed by the occupants of 

adjoining and neighbouring properties. Local Plan Policies GC2, GC3 and H14 relate to 

the protection of residential amenities throughout the District. In terms of the design 

of the dwelling, in comparison to the existing dwelling, the rearwards spread is 

significantly increased. That said, the design has been carefully considered to minimise 

its impacts upon neighbouring dwellings.  

4.9 Along the northern boundary line sits No.82, the flank to flank distance with this 

property would be approximately 3 metres.  There are 3 windows in the first floor flank 

elevation, one of the windows appears to be obscurely glazed and serves a bathroom. 

The other two windows are secondary widows that serve bedrooms, given that the 

bedrooms both have other windows, the loss of light to these bedrooms would not be 

significant to the point that a refusal would be warranted. The siting of the proposed 

dwelling would not breach the splay line drawn by a line at 45 degrees from the nearest 

first floor rear windows 

4.10 No.86 abuts the southern boundary, there would be a flank to flank separation gap 

between the properties of 4.5m, this property has 3 windows in its first floor elevation, 

one which serves a landing. The other two serve the same bedroom, this bedroom also 

benefits from a third rear facing window. Taking into account the large separation gap 

and that the room has 3 windows serving it, it is not considered that a significant 

amount of light would be lost from this habitable room. The siting of the proposed 

Page 38



dwelling would not breach the splay line drawn by a line at 45 degrees from the nearest 

rear facing window.  

4.11 Concerns have been raised from residents with regards to the proposed first floor flank 

windows creating an opportunity to overlook.  Given that these windows would look 

directly onto neighbouring flank windows it is considered necessary to attach a 

condition to any planning permission granted, which restricts these windows to 

obscure glazing only.  

4.12 It is considered that sufficient spacing to either boundary line is maintained which 

reduces the potential for the proposed dwelling to be overbearing when viewed from 

neighbouring amenity space. For these reasons, it is considered that the replacement 

dwelling will have little alteration to existing amenity levels serving adjoining 

properties. Given the siting and design of the replacement dwelling, it is not considered 

that the proposal would have an adverse impact regarding the privacy or amenity of 

adjoining properties and is therefore acceptable having regard to Policies GC2, GC3 

and H14. 

4.13 Neighbours have also raised concerns regarding a temporary structure that has been 

erected at the rear of the garden, the applicant has confirmed that the structure, is 

temporary and has been erected to store materials and equipment during building 

works and that it will be removed once the work is complete. In any event, it is not part 

of this planning application.    

Transport matters and parking 

Local Plan Saved Policies:  
TR2 (Highway aspects of planning applications throughout the district) 
TR11 (Provision of off-street parking for developments throughout the district) 
TR12 (Relaxation of parking standards throughout the district) 
TR15 (Design of parking areas throughout the district) 
TR16 (Parking and manoeuvring standards throughout the district)  

4.14 Given that the same access would be utilised and that sufficient parking will be 

available in the forecourt area and integrated garage, it is considered that the proposal 

would have no adverse parking implications, having regard to the Council's standard. 

The site frontage is able to accommodate the vehicles, and would allow them to park 

clear of the highway. The proposed turning area shown would not meet the standard 

6 meters behind the space, however the highways officer does not consider this to be 

detrimental to highway safety given the context of the site and the existing situation. 

4.15 The site entrance is situated opposite a school crossing, concerns have been raised 

regarding this crossing being blocked during construction. Any permission granted 

would not allow authority to obstruct this crossing, it is considered that an informative 

reminding the applicant of this should be attached to the approval, if granted 

permission. 

Ecology 

Core Strategy Policies: 

Page 39



CS4 (Ensuring that development is sustainable) 

CS24 (Biodiversity) 

Local Plan Saved Policies:  

NC1 (Safeguarding of nature conservation interests throughout the district) 

4.16 A Preliminary Roost Assessment was undertaken by Ecology By Design (Friday 12th 

February 2021). The ecology officer concluded that there is not a reasonable likelihood 

of protected species and/or priority habitats being affected by this development. 

Therefore, no further supporting ecological information is required and there is no 

objection towards this application. The development will need to demonstrate a net 

gain for biodiversity in line with national planning policy (NPPF, 2019). The submitted 

biodiversity enhancement plan (Oakman Architecture Ltd) is acceptable. A condition 

securing this plan should be attached to planning permission if granted.  

4.17  Neighbours have raised concerns that some trees and shrubs have been removed prior 

to the submission of this application, it should be noted that none of the removed trees 

were protected by way of a tree preservation order, therefore the work would not 

have required formal consent. However, it is noted that some of those trees 

particularly those on the front boundary, contributed to the character of the street 

scene. To compensate for this loss, the applicant will be planting a hedge on the front 

boundary and the landscaping as a whole can be secured by condition. Accordingly, no 

objections are raised with in this regard. 

5.0 Weighing and balancing of issues / Overall Assessment  

5.1 This section brings together the assessment that has so far been set out in order to 

weigh and balance relevant planning considerations in order to reach a conclusion on 

the application. 

5.2 In determining the planning application, section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory 

Purchase Act 2004 requires that proposals be determined in accordance with the 

development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. In addition, 

Section 143 of the Localism Act amends Section 70 of the Town and Country Planning 

Act relating to the determination of planning applications and states that in dealing 

with planning applications, the authority shall have regard to: 

a. Provision of the development plan insofar as they are material, 
b. Any local finance considerations, so far as they are material to the application 

(such as CIL if applicable), and, 
c. Any other material considerations 

5.3 As set out above it is considered that, the proposed development would accord with 

the development plan policies. 

5.4 Local Planning Authorities, when making decisions of a strategic nature, must have due 

regard, through the Equalities Act, to reducing the inequalities which may result from 

socio-economic disadvantage. In this instance, it is not considered that this proposal 

would disadvantage any sector of society to a harmful extent. 

Page 40



6.0 Working with the applicant / agent 

6.1 In accordance with paragraph 38 of the NPPF (2019) the Council approach decision-

taking in a positive and creative way taking a proactive approach to development 

proposals focused on solutions and work proactively with applicants to secure 

developments. 

6.2 The Council work with the applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner by 

offering a pre-application advice service, and as appropriate updating 

applications/agents of any issues that may arise in the processing of their application.  

6.3 In this instance, the Officers consider the application to be acceptable as submitted 

and no assistance was required.  

7.0 Recommendation: Conditional Permission 

1. The development to which this permission relates must be begun before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission. 

 Reason: To prevent the accumulation of unimplemented planning permissions, to enable the 
Local Planning Authority to review the suitability of the development in the light of altered 
circumstances and to comply with the provisions of Section 91 (1) of the Town & Country 
Planning Act 1990, as amended. 

 
2. The exterior of the development hereby permitted shall only be constructed in the materials 

specified on the plans hereby approved or in materials which shall previously have been 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the development is not detrimental to 
the character of the locality. 

 
3. The scheme for parking, garaging and manoeuvring indicated on the submitted plans shall 

be laid out prior to the initial occupation of the development hereby permitted and that area 
shall not thereafter be used for any other purpose. 

 Reason: To enable vehicles to draw off, park and turn clear of the highway to minimise 
danger, obstruction and inconvenience to users of the adjoining highway. 

 
4. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting that Order, with 
or without modification), no additional windows shall be inserted or constructed at any time 
at first floor level or above in either of the flank elevations of the dwelling. 

 Reason: In order that the Local Planning Authority can properly consider whether any future 
proposals would be detrimental to the amenities of the adjoining neighbouring properties, 
in accordance with policies GC1 and GC3 of the Chiltern District Local Plan Adopted 1 
September 1997 (including alterations adopted 29 May 2001) consolidated September 2007 
and November 2011, and policies CS20 of the Core Strategy for Chiltern District (Adopted 
November 2011). 

 
5. The first floor window located on the north and south elevations shall only be glazed with 

obscured glass and shall also be non-opening up to a height of 1.7 metres above the floor of 
the room in which the windows are installed.  No alterations to the size or glazing of these 
windows shall take place thereafter.  

Page 41



 Reason: In order that the Local Planning Authority can properly consider whether any future 
proposals would be detrimental to the amenities of the adjoining neighbouring properties, 
in accordance with policies GC1 and GC3 of the Chiltern District Local Plan Adopted 1 
September 1997 (including alterations adopted 29 May 2001) consolidated September 2007 
and November 2011, and policies CS20 of the Core Strategy for Chiltern District (Adopted 
November 2011). 

 
6. Prior to the commencement of any works above ground level, detailed plans, including cross 

sections as appropriate, showing the existing ground levels and the proposed slab and 
finished floor levels of the dwelling hereby permitted shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such levels shall be shown in relation to a fixed 
datum point normally located outside the application site. An additional scaled street view 
showing that the height of the proposed will not exceed the adjoining neighbouring property 
should be submitted. Thereafter, the development shall not be constructed other than as 
approved in relation to the fixed datum point.  

 Reason: To protect the character and appearance of the surrounding area as per GC1 of the 
Chiltern District Local Plan Adopted 1 September 1997 (including alterations adopted 29 May 
2001) consolidated September 2007 and November 2011, and policies CS20 of the Core 
Strategy for Chiltern District (Adopted November 2011). 

 
7. The approved development shall be carried out in accordance with the biodiversity 

enhancement plan for 84 Denham Lane, Chalfont SL9 0EY (Oakman Architecture Ltd, 
submitted 19/02/2021).  The condition will be considered discharged on receipt of a letter 
to confirm that all mitigation and enhancement measures have been implemented in 
accordance the approved measures. 

 Reason: In the interests of improving biodiversity in accordance with NPPF and Core Strategy 
Policy 24: Biodiversity of the Chiltern District and to ensure the survival of protected and 
notable species protected by legislation that may otherwise be affected by the development. 

 
8. Any new hard surfacing within the site must be made of porous material or provision must 

be made to direct run-off from the hard surface to a permeable or porous area or surface 
within the curtilage of the development. 

 Reason: To prevent reduce the risk of surface water flooding within the locality. 
 
9. Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 3(1) of the Town & Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting that 
Order) no development falling within Classes A-E inclusive of Part 1 of Schedule 2 to the said 
Order shall be erected within the application site unless planning permission is first granted 
by the Local Planning Authority. 

 Reason: To protect the character and appearance of the surrounding area and the amenity 
of neighbouring properties, as per policies GC1, GC3 and H3 of the Chiltern District Local Plan 
Adopted 1 September 1997 (including alterations adopted 29 May 2001) consolidated 
September 2007 and November 2011, and policy CS20 of the Core Strategy for Chiltern 
District (Adopted November 2011). 

 
10. No construction work above ground level shall take place until there has been submitted to 

and approved by the Local Planning Authority a scheme of landscaping at a scale of not less 
than 1:500 which shall include indications of all existing trees and hedgerows on the land, 
with details of those to be retained, and those to be felled being clearly specified, as well as 

Page 42



new planting. The scheme shall include a hedge along the frontage, with precise details of 
species, planting size and spacing of new plants.  

 Reason: In order to maintain, as far as possible, the character of the locality. 
 
11. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall be 

carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons following the occupation of the buildings 
or the completion of the development, whichever is the sooner, and any trees or plants 
which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the development die, are removed 
or become seriously damaged or diseased, shall be replaced in the next planting season with 
others of similar size and species, unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent 
to any variation.  

 Reason: In order to maintain, as far as possible, the character of the locality. 
 

12. This permission relates to the details shown on the approved plans as listed below: 

List of approved plans: 

Received Plan Reference 

25 Jan 2021 2062-PL-104 

13 Jan 2021 2062-PL-101 Rev A 

13 Jan 2021 2062-PL-102 Rev A 

13 Jan 2021 2062-PL-103 Rev A 

18 Feb 2021 2062-PL-BIO 

19 Feb 2021 Biodiversity Enhancement Plan 

7 Dec 2020 2062-PL-001 

7 Dec 2020 2062-PL-002 

 

INFORMATIVE(S) 

1. The Council is the Charging Authority for the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). CIL is a 

charge on development; it is tariff-based and enables local authorities to raise funds to pay 

for infrastructure. 

 If you have received a CIL Liability Notice, this Notice will set out the further requirements 

that need to be complied with.  

 If you have not received a CIL Liability Notice, the development may still be liable for CIL. 

Before development is commenced, for further information please refer to the following 

website https://www.chiltern.gov.uk/CIL-implementation or contact 01494 732792 for 

more information. 

2. Due to the close proximity of the site to existing residential properties, the applicants' 

attention is drawn to the Considerate Constructors Scheme initiative. This initiative 

encourages contractors and construction companies to adopt a considerate and respectful 

Page 43



approach to construction works, so that neighbours are not unduly affected by noise, smells, 

operational hours, vehicles parking at the site or making deliveries, and general disruption 

caused by the works.  

 By signing up to the scheme, contractors and construction companies commit to being 

considerate and good neighbours, as well as being clean, respectful, safe, environmentally 

conscious, responsible and accountable. The Council highly recommends the Considerate 

Constructors Scheme as a way of avoiding problems and complaints from local residents and 

further information on how to participate can be found at www.ccscheme.org.uk.  

3. You are advised that consent under the Building Regulations may be required for the 

proposed development and the Building Control Unit at the Council should be contacted in 

this regard.   

4. It is an offence under S151 of the Highways Act 1980 for vehicles leaving the development 

site to carry mud onto the public highway. Facilities should therefore be provided and used 

on the development site for cleaning the wheels of vehicles before they leave the site. 

5. All wild birds, their nests and eggs (with certain limited exceptions) are protected by law 

under Section 1 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and the Countryside 

and Rights of Way Act 2000.  Consequently you should take adequate precautions to ensure 

that any tree work does not cause any disturbance to birds and their nests particularly during 

the normal nesting season of March to August.  Similarly all bats and their roosting sites are 

protected by the same legislation so precautions should also be taken to avoid carrying out 

activities which might harm or disturb bats or their roosts. 

  

Page 44



APPENDIX A:  Consultation Responses and Representations 

 

Councillor Comments 

Councillor Smith stated the following ‘I would like this application to be determined by the Planning 

Committee if the officer’s recommendation is for approval’. No stated concerns. 

Parish/Town Council Comments 

- The newbuild is large and bulky compared to neighbours. As such it is overbearing for 

neighbours and out of keeping with the street scene. This goes against our Neighbourhood Plan, 

policies H5 & H6. Refer also to Appendix B, character area 1 ‘Denham Lane to Amersham Road’.  

- Is the Planning Officer satisfied that parking requirements have been met with the loss of the 

garage and side drive?  

- The large window in the gable at the rear is very prominent and out of keeping with adjacent 

houses. It also overlooks properties on Highlands Close.  

- Close proximity to Robertswood School raises concerns regarding safety, disruption and parking. 

It should be noted that HS2 built a road away from this area to facilitate large vehicles because 

of safety concerns.  

- Concern that a lot of ‘greenery’ has been removed and a building erected in the back garden, 
which suggests overdevelopment. 

Consultation Responses  

Highways:  The site frontage is able accommodate the vehicles, and would allow them to park 

clear of the highway. The proposed turning area shown here, whilst not meeting the standard 6 

meters behind the space, I would not consider detrimental to highway safety given the context of 

the site and the existing situation. Therefore I have no objections to the proposal, subject to 

conditions. 

Ecology:   

 The submitted report is acceptable and no further information is required at this stage. 

 However, the proposed development must show a net gain for biodiversity in accordance 

with national planning policy (NPPF, 2019). 

 The submitted biodiversity enhancement plan (Oakman Architecture Ltd) is acceptable. 

 Therefore, measures for biodiversity enhancement should be secured via a suitably worded 

planning condition. 

 

Representations 

Two letters of objection have been received which have been summarised below: 

- The new build is large and bulky. 

- overbearing for neighbours and  

- out of keeping with the street scene.  

- Contrary to Neighbourhood Plan, policies H5 & H6. Refer also to Appendix B, character area 

1 ‘Denham Lane to Amersham Road’.  

- Is the parking sufficient 

Page 45



- The large window in the gable at the rear is very prominent and out of keeping with adjacent 

houses. It also overlooks properties on Highlands Close.  

- Close proximity to Robertswood School raises concerns regarding safety, disruption and 

parking. It should be noted that HS2 built a road away from this area to facilitate large 

vehicles because of safety concerns.  

- Concern that a lot of ‘greenery’ has been removed and a building erected in the back garden, 

which suggests overdevelopment. 

 

  

Page 46



APPENDIX B:  Site Location Plan 

 

 

Do not scale – this map is indicative only 

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with permission of the Controller of Her Majesty’s Stationary Office © Crown Copyright 2012. 

Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Buckinghamshire Council, PSMA Licence 

Number 100023578 

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



Buckinghamshire Council 
www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk  

 

 

 

Report to East Area Planning Committee 

Application Number: PL/20/4358/FA 

Proposal: Erection of two detached dwellings, one with integral 

garage and creation of new vehicular access 

Site Location: 41 Watchet Lane, Holmer Green, Buckinghamshire,  
HP15 6UF  
 

Applicant: Mr Trevor Snoxell and Mr Mark Snoxell 

Case Officer: Emma Showan 

Ward(s) affected: Penn Wood & Old Amersham 

Parish-Town Council: Little Missenden Parish Council 

Date valid application received: 21 December 2020 

Statutory determination date: 12 March 2021 

Recommendation Conditional Permission 

1.0 Summary & Recommendation/ Reason for Planning Committee Consideration 

1.1 This application proposes to subdivide the existing plot at No. 41 Watchet Lane and to 

erect two detached dwellings to the rear, in addition to the provision of a new 

vehicular access onto Watchet Lane. The application follows the submission and 

refusal of planning application references PL/19/3413/FA, PL/19/4419/FA and 

PL/20/0036/FA. Following a dismissed appeal, this application seeks to overcome the 

upheld reason for refusal. This related to the impact of the erection of a dwelling on 

Plot Two on the amenities of the adjacent neighbouring property at No. 43 Watchet 

Lane. 

1.2 Councillor Waters called in the application for consideration by the Planning 

Committee, on the basis that the issues raised on the previous applications may not 

have been sufficiently addressed by the amended proposal under consideration. 

1.3 The recommendation is to grant conditional permission. 

2.0 Description of Proposed Development 

2.1 This application relates to a site located in the built-up area of Holmer Green. It is 

located off Watchet Lane which is a residential through-road on the edge of the 

settlement. The road is characterised by ribbon development along both sides with a 

mixed range of property types and styles. Dwellings, particularly on the west side of 

Page 49

Agenda Item 6

http://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/


the highway, have long rear gardens that extend to share a boundary with the open 

Green Belt and countryside to the rear. Along the north-west side of the highway 

dwellings have particularly long gardens, and a considerable number of these gardens 

have been subdivided to enable residential development to the rear. This has led to 

the creation of a second frontage off Watchet Lane. The application site itself currently 

comprises the rear residential garden of No. 41 Watchet Lane, a single storey bungalow 

which has extant planning permission to be extended. 

2.2 It is noted that similar planning applications, reference PL/19/3413/FA, PL/19/4419/FA 

and PL/20/0036/FA were refused permission. These proposals sought permission for 

the erection of two, two-storey detached dwellings with integral garages and the 

provision of a vehicular access to the rear of No. 41 Watchet Lane. These applications 

were refused permission and a subsequent appeal was dismissed. This latest 

application is a re-submission of the earlier proposals, and seeks to overcome the 

previous reasons for refusal. 

2.3 This application proposes to subdivide the existing plot at No. 41 Watchet Lane and to 

erect two detached dwellings, in addition to the provision of a new vehicular access 

onto Watchet Lane. 

2.4 Plot One would accommodate a two-storey detached dwelling with a maximum width 

of 9.5 metres, depth of 15 metres, and pitched roof height of 8.2 metres, with an eaves 

height of 5 metres. It would contain four bedrooms, an integral garage and a rear 

garden with an approximate depth of 13 metres. 

2.5 Plot Two would accommodate a detached bungalow with a maximum width of 8.4 

metres, depth of 13.8 metres and pitched roof height of 5.6 metres, with an eaves 

height of 2.5 metres. It would contain two bedrooms at ground floor level and a rear 

garden depth of approximately 12.5 metres. 

2.6 A new access would be provided along the southern boundary of the site and onto 

Watchet Lane. 

2.7 The application is accompanied by: 
a) A Design & Access Statement 
b) Tree Report 

3.0 Relevant Planning History 

On site:  

3.1 PL/20/0036/FA - Erection of 2 detached dwellings with integral garages and new 

vehicular access, refused permission and appeal dismissed. Only one reason for 

refusal upheld at appeal: The dwelling on Plot Two, by virtue of its height and siting 

to the rear of, and within close proximity to, the rear garden and dwelling at No. 43 

Watchet Lane would appear both overbearing and intrusive when viewed from this 

property’s rear amenity area.  

3.2 PL/19/4419/FA - Erection of two detached dwellings with integral garages and 

provision of vehicular access, refused permission and appeal dismissed. 

Page 50



3.3 PL/19/3413/FA - Erection of two detached dwellings with integral garages and 

provision of vehicular access, refused permission. 

3.4 CH/1990/1689/OA - Demolition of No. 41 Watchet Lane, construction of access road 

and four detached houses and garages, refused permission. 

Along Watchet Lane: 

3.5 PL/18/2797/FA - Redevelopment of site to provide two detached dwellings with 

integral garages, a pair of semi-detached dwellings and a single detached dwelling 

with carport and construction of revised vehicular access; to rear of Nos. 67-69 

Watcher Lane, conditional permission. 

3.6 CH/2018/0566/FA - Construction of two detached dwellings to rear of Nos. 59-61 

Watchet Lane, new vehicular access and associated hardstanding, conditional 

permission. 

3.7 CH/2017/1752/FA - Removal of garage extension to 70 Watchet Lane, erection of two 

detached dwellings with integral garages on land rear of 68 and 70 Watchet Lane, 

served by widened vehicular access, conditional permission. 

3.8 CH/2017/1429/FA - Removal of garage extension to existing dwelling, construction 

of three detached dwellings to rear of Nos. 53-57 Watchet Lane, new vehicular access 

and associated hardstanding, conditional permission. 

3.9 CH/2017/0218/FA - Removal of garage extension to existing dwelling, development 

of site to rear of Nos. 59-61 Watchet Lane to include two linked detached dwellings 

with integral garage, construction of new vehicular access and associated 

hardstanding, conditional permission.  

3.10 CH/2016/1116/FA - Demolition of No. 47 Watchet Lane to provide new access to land 

at rear of No. 45 and No. 49 and the erection of three buildings providing five 

dwellings, conditional permission. 

4.0 Summary of Representations 

4.1 No comments received by Parish Council at time of drafting report. 

4.2 Eight letters of objection received. 

5.0 Policy Considerations and Evaluation 

 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), February 2019. 

 National Design Guidance, October 2019 

 Core Strategy for Chiltern District - Adopted November 2011:  

 Chiltern District Local Plan adopted 1 September 1997 (including alterations adopted 
29 May 2001), consolidated September 2007 and November 2011. 

 Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) - Adopted 21 February 
2012 

 Chiltern and South Bucks Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule 
 

Page 51



Principle and Location of Development 

Core Strategy Policies: 
CS1 (The spatial strategy),  

Local Plan Saved Policies:  
H3 (Provision of new dwellings in the built-up areas excluded from the Green Belt (other 

than in accordance with Policies H2, H4 & H7)) 

5.1 The site is located within the built up area of Holmer Green where in accordance with 

Policy H3, proposals for new dwellings are acceptable in principle subject to there 

being no conflict with any other Local Plan policy. Proposals should be compatible with 

the character of those areas by respecting the general density, scale, siting, height and 

character of buildings in the locality of the application site, and the presence of trees, 

shrubs, lawns and verges.  

5.2 In addition, the spatial strategy for Chiltern District, in accordance with Policies CS1 

and CS2 of the Core Strategy, is to focus development on land within existing 

settlements outside the Green Belt and Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). 

Limited development will take place in villages including Holmer Green. 

5.3 The application has been submitted in response to three similar planning applications, 

references PL/20/0036/FA, PL/19/4419/FA and PL/19/3413/FA, which were all refused 

permission. The previous proposals sought permission for the erection of two, two-

storey detached dwellings with integral garages and the provision of a vehicular access 

to the rear of No. 41 Watchet Lane.  

5.4 For reference, the two reasons for refusal on the previous applications were: 

- Although the proposed dwellings would be of a comparable height to others in the 

locality, the two dwellings would be sited to the rear of a low rise bungalow which 

is single storey and which comprises a modestly pitched gable roof. Therefore, it is 

considered that the erection of two, two storey dwellings with bulky flank 

elevations that would be sited to the rear of the modest bungalow would appear 

awkward and unexpected in this location. In addition, the two dwellings would be 

set forward of the line of dwellings approved to the rear so that they would 

introduce a third line of intermediary development on this side of Watchet Lane. 

The two dwellings would be sited entirely forward of the properties to the rear, thus 

emphasising their isolated position in between two clear rows of development and 

emphasising the uncharacteristic and awkward relationship they would have with 

adjacent existing dwellings and linear character of the area. The proposal is 

therefore contrary to Policies CS4 and CS20 of the Core Strategy for Chiltern District 

(Adopted November 2011), Policies GC1 and H3 of The Chiltern District Local Plan 

Adopted 1 September 1997 (including alterations adopted 29 May 2001) 

Consolidated September 2007 & November 2011 and the National Planning Policy 

Framework, as well as conflicting with Policy DP8 of the Draft Chiltern Local Plan 

2036. 

- The proposed dwellings, by virtue of their height and siting to the rear of, and within 

close proximity to, the rear entertaining/amenity area at No. 39a and rear elevation 

and garden at No. 43 Watchet Lane would appear both overbearing and intrusive 

when viewed from these properties' patio/decking and rear amenity areas. As such, 

Page 52



the proposal would adversely affect the amenities of these neighbouring dwellings 

and would be contrary to Policy GC3 of The Chiltern Local Plan Adopted 1 

September 1997 (including alterations adopted 29 May 2001) Consolidated 

September 2007 & November 2011. 

5.5 The latest application (PL/20/0036/FA) was dismissed at appeal, but only one of the 

Council’s reasons for refusal was upheld at appeal. This related to the impact of the 

proposed dwelling on Plot Two which was considered, by virtue of its height and siting 

to the rear of and close proximity to the rear garden and dwelling at No. 43 Watchet 

Lane to be both overbearing and intrusive when viewed from this neighbour property’s 

rear amenity area.  

5.6 The latest application is a re-submission of the earlier proposals, and seeks to 

overcome the previous reason for refusal. The scheme continues to propose the 

erection of two dwellings to the rear of No. 41 Watchet Lane, however the dwelling 

proposed for Plot Two has been reduced in size and scale so that it would now be a 

single storey bungalow. The proposed dwelling on Plot One would remain two-storey 

in height and would be comparable to the siting, scale and appearance of the dwelling 

proposed on this plot under the previous application (PL/20/0036/FA). The access 

arrangements would be identical to those proposed under the previous applications 

also. 

5.7 The current application hopes that the amendments to the dwelling proposed on Plot 

Two would be sufficient to overcome the previous reason for refusal set out under 

application PL/20/0036/FA and upheld at appeal. All other relevant Development Plan 

policies should also be complied with. 

Raising the quality of place making and design 

Core Strategy Policies: 
CS4 (Ensuring that the development is sustainable) 
CS20 (Design and environmental quality) 
Local Plan Saved Policies:  
GC1 (Design of development throughout the district) 
GC4 (Landscaping throughout the district) 
H11 (Distance between flank elevation(s) of a proposed multi-storey dwelling and 
boundary of dwelling's curtilage throughout the district) 

5.8 The application site itself is characterised by a single storey bungalow to the front of 

the site with a large rear garden. Planning permission has been granted for the 

extension of this bungalow to allow for the creation of a larger, two storey dwelling.  It 

is proposed to subdivide the rear garden to allow for the introduction of two detached 

dwellings to the rear, in connection with the creation of a new access drive onto 

Watchet Lane. Unlike with the previous applications, this proposal seeks to erect a 

two-storey detached dwelling alongside a single storey bungalow, as opposed to the 

previous schemes which all proposed the erection of two, two-storey detached 

dwellings. 

5.9 It is noted that the Council previously raised concern that the erection of two dwellings 

in this location would be harmful to the character of the area. The Council’s previous 

reason for refusal objected to the proposed heights of the dwellings which were 

considered to result in the dwellings appearing prominent and intrusive when viewed 

Page 53



from the street scene, in addition to the siting of the dwellings which would have 

introduced a third line of development, emphasising the uncharacteristic and awkward 

relationship the proposal would have with existing adjacent dwellings. 

5.10 However, the Council’s assessment was not upheld at appeal. As part of appeal 

decision, the Inspector stated that the design of the proposal would generally conform 

with the style and arrangement of local development. The proposed height and mass 

would complement the scale and general height of existing neighbouring dwellings and 

the layout would provide rear gardens and parking areas that would be in character 

with local plot sizes. The Inspector also stated that the proposed dwellings would not 

over dominate the frontage bungalow or be overt in views of the site from the 

surrounding street scene. He then concluded that: ‘the proposed development would 

not result in the creation of a third tier of development. Rather, it would follow the 

rear boundary line and be set in sufficiently to accommodate the rear gardens. 

Consequently, the proposal would contribute to the existing linear form of 

development. This would be in accordance with the general arrangement and layout 

of local development. Accordingly, the proposed development would complement the 

character and appearance of the site and its surroundings.’ 

5.11 As this current application proposes the siting of two dwellings in the same location 

and same arrangement as was submitted previously, and based on the comments of 

the Appeal Inspector, it is considered that no objections can be raised with regards to 

the impact of the proposal on the character of the area. The dwelling on Plot One 

would be comparable in terms of its proportions, design and siting to the dwelling 

proposed in this location under the previous application, whilst the dwelling on Plot 

Two would be sited in the same location as on the previous submission, albeit this 

dwelling would be reduced in scale to now be a single storey bungalow. The bungalow 

would reflect the character of the dwelling on Plot One and its reduced height is not 

considered to be detrimental to the character of the area. There is a mixed range of 

properties in the locality, and therefore the inclusion of a bungalow on this site is 

considered to be acceptable. 

5.12 It is noted that third party representations have stated that a bungalow in this location 

would be unusual, as dwellings are predominantly two storeys and all of the dwellings 

that have been erected to the rear of properties fronting Watchet Lane are two 

storeys. However, the bungalow would not be visible from the public highway and its 

siting to the rear is such that it would not therefore be prominent in local views. It is 

therefore considered that the inclusion of both a two-storey dwelling and a bungalow 

on this site would not be harmful to the character of the area. It has already been 

stated that there is a mix of property types and appearances along Watchet Lane and 

in the vicinity of the site. 

5.13 To conclude, based on the similarities between this application and the previous 

scheme and the comments of the Appeal Inspector, it is considered that the proposal 

would not be of an acceptable appearance and siting, and would not be harmful to the 

character of the area. 

Amenity of existing and future residents 

Local Plan Saved Policies:  
GC3 (Protection of amenities throughout the district) 

Page 54



H12 (Private residential garden areas throughout the district) 

5.14 The proposed dwellings would be located to the rear of No. 41, with in excess of 30 

metres separating the proposed dwellings from the existing dwelling at No. 41. This is 

considered to be sufficient to ensure that the proposed dwellings are not detrimental 

to the amenities of the occupiers of No. 41. No objections were previously raised with 

regards to the impact of two dwellings in this location on the amenities of No. 41. 

5.15 Concerns were previously raised with regards to the impact of the proposal on the 

amenities of both No. 39a and No. 43. The impacts of this latest scheme on the 

amenities of both adjacent neighbours will be discussed in turn. 

5.16 The dwelling on Plot One would be two-storey detached. It would be sited 

approximately 2.2 metres away from the shared boundary with No. 39a. It was 

previously considered by the Council that the erection of a two storey dwelling on this 

plot would not be harmful to the amenities of the main dwelling at No.39a, however 

concerns were raised that the close proximity to the boundary and size of the proposed 

dwelling would be harmful to the entertainment area, including a summerhouse and 

hot tub, located to the rear garden at No. 39a. This reason for refusal was upheld under 

Appeal A (in relation to PL/19/4419/FA), but not under Appeal B (PL/20/0036/FA). 

Under Appeal B, the Inspector concluded that: ‘the dwelling for plot 1 would be smaller 

in comparison to plot 1 of appeal A. It would have a reduced roof mass and a 

corresponding reduction in overall scale. As found above, the Beech and Sorbus would 

be unlikely to be retained due to the proximity of the dwelling. Nevertheless, without 

this additional screening the proposal would not significantly affect the outlook to 

occupiers of the neighbouring dwelling due to its reduced scale. This would therefore 

create an acceptable relationship with the adjacent neighbouring garden. As such, the 

impact on the outlook to occupiers of No 39a would be limited.’ 

5.17 The dwelling on Plot One is comparable to the dwelling assessed by the Appeal 

Inspector in relation to Appeal B. It would be of the same proportions, same siting, and 

would have the same relationship with the amenity area of No. 39a. As the Appeal 

Inspector considered that this relationship would be acceptable, no new objections 

can now be raised as part of this application, and the impact of the proposal on the 

amenities of No. 39a is considered acceptable. 

5.18 Meanwhile, the dwelling on Plot Two has been amended and reduced in scale so that 

it is now a single storey bungalow. Concerns were previously raised that the erection 

of a two-storey dwelling on this plot would be overbearing and intrusive, and harmful 

to the amenities of No. 43. The Appeal Inspector agreed with the assessment made by 

the Council with regards to the relationship between the proposed dwelling on Plot 

One and No. 43 under both Appeals A and B. In the appeal decision, it was stated that: 

‘The proposed dwelling for plot 2 would be a relatively short distance from the rear 

windows and immediate rear garden of No 43. Furthermore, the existing boundary 

hedge would provide only limited screening of the proposal. The outlook from No 43 

includes its long rear garden and open views over neighbouring gardens and the 

countryside beyond. This presents a wide and spacious setting around the rear of the 

dwelling. The proposal would be located within this open setting. It would have only a 

modest separation distance from the rear windows of No 43. Due to its proximity and 

dominance the proposal would be an invasive and prominent addition to the outlook. 

Page 55



This would be exacerbated due to the scale and depth of the proposed dwelling. The 

effect of this would be to compromise the occupant’s enjoyment of the host dwelling. 

This would therefore have a demonstrably harmful impact on the living conditions of 

occupiers of No 43.’ Both Appeal A and Appeal B were dismissed, on the basis of harm 

to the amenities of No. 43. 

5.19 In order to overcome the previous reason for refusal relating to the harm to the 

amenities of No. 43, the scale of the proposed dwelling has been reduced so that it is 

now proposed to erect a single storey dwelling in place of the previously proposed 

two-storey dwelling. The proposed dwelling would be single storey, with the entirety 

of the living accommodation being provided at ground floor level. There would be no 

dormers and no habitable space within the roof space. The dwelling would have a 

height of 5.6 metres, with an eaves height of 2.5, and the roof would be hipped away 

from the flank boundaries. Rooflights are proposed, however their height and angle of 

insertion is such that they are not considered to be intrusive into the neighbouring 

property/garden. Overall, given the single storey nature of the proposed dwelling and 

the siting of windows, it is considered that the amended dwelling would not be 

intrusive and therefore harmful to the amenities of No. 43 in this respect. A condition 

preventing the insertion of future dormer windows would prevent future intrusion to 

No. 43. 

5.20 In terms of being overbearing, the concerns raised by third parties regarding the height 

of the dwelling are noted, and although it is acknowledged that the proposed 

bungalow would be visible from No. 43, views would be onto the roof slopes of the 

proposed dwelling. This is not considered to be harmful in-of-itself. In addition, it is 

considered that the hipped nature of the roof would result in the bulk of the dwelling 

being angled away from the boundary and garden of No. 43. The eaves height of the 

proposed dwelling itself is relatively low, at 2.5 metres. This low eaves height 

combined with the hipped nature of the roof means that the proposal is not considered 

to be overbearing when viewed from No. 43. Specifically, the reduction in size of the 

dwelling would mean that it no longer appears as an invasive and prominent addition 

to the outlook from No. 43, as the modest height of the bungalow would maintain a 

greater sense of openness on site. It is therefore considered that the erection of a 

bungalow on Plot 2 would be a satisfactory resolution to the concerns raised by the 

Appeal Inspector and would overcome the previous harm.  

5.21 Local Plan Policy H12 relates to proposed garden sizes and states that each new house 

should have a private garden area adequate for and appropriate to the size, design and 

amount of living accommodation proposed. The general standard expected will be a 

minimum rear garden depth of about 15 metres unless the average garden lengths in 

the vicinity are significantly more or less. With regard to the application site, the 

dwelling at No. 41 would retain a garden with an approximate depth of 16 metres. 

Meanwhile, the two proposed gardens to the rear would have a minimum rear garden 

depth of 10 metres, and a maximum garden depth of 13 metres. Although this would 

result in garden depths which are below the recommendation set out in Policy H12, it 

is considered that adequate garden space would be provided in connection with the 

amount of living accommodation proposed and the arrangement would further be 

mitigated by the access to open countryside to the rear of the site. The previous 

applications considered the amount of garden area to be provided acceptable, and the 

Page 56



Appeal Inspector too noted that the layouts would provide rear gardens that would be 

in character with local plots. No objections are therefore raised with respect of the 

proposed garden sizes. 

5.22 The site plan indicates that bin storage would be provided within the curtilage of the 

dwellings with an additional bin collection point also being provided at the end of the 

access drive, adjacent to Watchet Lane. The Council's Waste Officer has confirmed that 

this arrangement would be satisfactory. 

Transport matters and parking 

Core Strategy Policies: 
CS25 (Dealing with the impact of new development on the transport network) 
CS26 (Requirements of new development) 
Local Plan Saved Policies:  
TR2 (Highway aspects of planning applications throughout the district) 
TR3 (Access and road layout throughout the district) 
TR11 (Provision of off-street parking for developments throughout the district) 
TR14 (Retention of existing areas of off-street vehicle parking throughout the district) 
TR15 (Design of parking areas throughout the district) 
TR16 (Parking and manoeuvring standards throughout the district) 

5.23 It is proposed to provide two parking spaces to be laid out on an area of hardstanding 

to the front of Dwelling One with a third space to be provided within the integral single 

garage. Dwelling Two would have two parking spaces provided on the hardstanding 

area to the front. This is in line with the parking standards set out in Local Planning 

Policy TR16. 

5.24 In terms of the access arrangements, it is proposed to create a new access onto 

Watchet Lane that would run along the southern boundary of the site and in between 

the properties at No. 41 and No. 39a. The comments of the Building Control Officer are 

noted in regards to the access and the Highways Authority has assessed this aspect of 

the proposal, also having regard to the third party comments raising concerns about 

the safety of the exit onto Watchet Lane. The Highways Authority have subsequently 

confirmed that the additional traffic can be safely accommodated onto the highway 

and adequate visibility splays can be achieved. In addition, the Highways Authority has 

confirmed that they are satisfied that the proposed access width is sufficient for the 

proposed development. They consider that the access arrangements are satisfactory 

to serve the proposed development. No objections are therefore raised in regards to 

the proposed access or parking arrangements. 

Affordable Housing and Housing Mix 

Core Strategy Policies: 
CS8 (Affordable housing policy) 

5.25 For proposals under 5 dwellings, Policy CS8 of the Core Strategy requires a financial 

contribution towards off-site affordable housing to be made. However, there are now 

specific circumstances set out in the NPPG (National Planning Practice Guidance) 

where contributions for affordable housing and tariff style planning obligations 

(section 106 planning obligations) should not be sought from small scale development, 

including developments of the size proposed within this application.  This carries more 

Page 57



weight than Policy CS8, as it is more recent, so an affordable housing contribution 

cannot be sought in this instance. 

6.0 Weighing and balancing of issues / Overall Assessment  

6.1 In determining the planning application, section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory 

Purchase Act 2004 requires that proposals be determined in accordance with the 

development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. In addition, 

Section 143 of the Localism Act amends Section 70 of the Town and Country Planning 

Act relating to the determination of planning applications and states that in dealing 

with planning applications, the authority shall have regard to: 

a. Provision of the development plan insofar as they are material, 
b. Any local finance considerations, so far as they are material to the application 

(such as CIL if applicable), and, 
c. Any other material considerations 

6.2 As set out above it is considered that the proposed development would accord with 

the development plan policies and provisions of the NPPF. It is considered that the 

proposed development has overcome the previous reasons for refusal and no harm 

has been identified that would warrant a refusal of this proposal.  

6.3 Local Planning Authorities, when making decisions of a strategic nature, must have due 

regard, through the Equalities Act, to reducing the inequalities which may result from 

socio-economic disadvantage.  In this instance, it is not considered that this proposal 

would disadvantage any sector of society to a harmful extent. 

6.4 The recommendation is made having regard to the above and also to the content of 

the Human Rights Act 1998. 

7.0 Working with the applicant / agent 

7.1 In accordance with paragraph 38 of the NPPF (2019) the Council approach decision-

taking in a positive and creative way taking a proactive approach to development 

proposals focused on solutions and work proactively with applicants to secure 

developments. 

7.2 The Council work with the applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner by 

offering a pre-application advice service, and as appropriate updating 

applications/agents of any issues that may arise in the processing of their application.  

8.0 Recommendation: Conditional Permission 

Subject to the following conditions:- 

1. The development to which this permission relates must be begun before the expiration of 

three years from the date of this permission. 

 Reason: To prevent the accumulation of unimplemented planning permissions, to enable the 

Local Planning Authority to review the suitability of the development in the light of altered 

circumstances and to comply with the provisions of Section 91 (1) of the Town & Country 

Planning Act 1990, as amended. 

Page 58



 

2. Before any construction work above slab level commences, full details of the materials to be 
used for the external construction of the development hereby permitted, including the 
facing materials, roofing materials and surface materials for the road and parking areas, shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development 
shall only be carried out in the approved materials.  

 Reason:  To ensure that the external appearance of the development is not detrimental to 
the character of the locality, in accordance with policies GC1 and H3 of the Chiltern District 
Local Plan Adopted 1 September 1997 (including alterations adopted 29 May 2001) 
consolidated September 2007 and November 2011, and policy CS20 of the Core Strategy for 
Chiltern District (Adopted November 2011). 

3. Prior to the commencement of any works on site, detailed plans, including cross sections as 
appropriate, showing the existing ground levels and the proposed slab and finished floor 
levels of the dwellings hereby permitted shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. Such levels shall be shown in relation to a fixed datum point 
normally located outside the application site.  Thereafter the development shall not be 
constructed other than as approved in relation to the fixed datum point.  

 Reason: To protect, as far as is possible, the character of the locality and the residential 
amenities of neighbouring properties, in accordance with policies GC1, GC3 and H3 of the 
Chiltern District Local Plan Adopted 1 September 1997 (including alterations adopted 29 May 
2001) consolidated September 2007 and November 2011, and policy CS20 of the Core 
Strategy for Chiltern District (Adopted November 2011). 

4. No other part of the development shall begin until the modified access onto Watchet Lane 
has been laid out in accordance with the approved plans and visibility splays have been 
provided on both sides of the access between a point 2.4 metres along the centre line of the 
access measured from the edge of the carriageway and a point 43 metres along the edge of 
the carriageway measured from the intersection of the centre line of the access. The area 
contained within the splays shall be kept free of any obstruction exceeding 0.6 metres in 
height above the nearside channel level of the carriageway. 

 Reason: in order to minimise danger, obstruction and inconvenience to users of the highway 
and of the development, and to provide adequate intervisibility between the access and the 
existing public highway for the safety and convenience of users of the highway and of the 
access, in accordance with policies TR2 and TR3 of the Chiltern District Local Plan Adopted 1 
September 1997 (including alterations adopted 29 May 2001) consolidated September 2007 
and November 2011, and policies CS25 and CS26 of the Core Strategy for Chiltern District 
(Adopted November 2011). 

5. The scheme for parking, garaging and manoeuvring indicated on the submitted plans shall 
be laid out prior to the initial occupation of the development hereby permitted and those 
areas shall not thereafter be used for any purpose other than the parking of vehicles.  

 Reason: To enable vehicles to draw off, park and turn clear of the highway to minimise 
danger, obstruction and inconvenience to users of the adjoining highway, in accordance with 
policies TR2, TR3, TR11 and TR16 of the Chiltern District Local Plan Adopted 1 September 
1997 (including alterations adopted 29 May 2001) consolidated September 2007 and 
November 2011, and policies CS25 and CS26 of the Core Strategy for Chiltern District 
(Adopted November 2011). 

 

Page 59



6. No development shall take place until there has been submitted to and approved by the 
Local Planning Authority a scheme of landscaping at a scale of not less than 1:500 which shall 
include indications of all existing trees and hedgerows on the land, with details of those to 
be retained, those to be felled being clearly specified, and full details of those to be planted. 
This shall include full details of the locations, size and species of all trees, hedgerows and 
shrubs to be planted, removed and retained and should include the installation of bat and/or 
bird bricks and/or boxes.   

 Reason: In order to maintain, as far as possible, the character of the locality and to ensure 
biodiversity enhancements and to ensure a good quality of amenity for future occupiers of 
the dwellings hereby permitted, in accordance with policies GC1, GC4 and H3 of the Chiltern 
District Local Plan Adopted 1 September 1997 (including alterations adopted 29 May 2001) 
consolidated September 2007 and November 2011, and policy CS20 and CS24 of the Core 
Strategy for Chiltern District (Adopted November 2011). 

7. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the landscaping scheme approved under 
condition 6 of this permission shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons 
following the occupation of the buildings or the completion of the development, whichever 
is the sooner, and any trees, hedges or plants which within a period of 5 years from the 
completion of the development, die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased, 
shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species, unless 
the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation. 

 Reason: In order to maintain, as far as possible, the character of the locality and to ensure 
biodiversity enhancements and to ensure a good quality of amenity for future occupiers of 
the dwellings hereby permitted, in accordance with policies GC1, GC4 and H3 of the Chiltern 
District Local Plan Adopted 1 September 1997 (including alterations adopted 29 May 2001) 
consolidated September 2007 and November 2011, and policy CS20 and CS24 of the Core 
Strategy for Chiltern District (Adopted November 2011). 

8. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting that Order, with 
or without modification), no windows/dormer windows other than those expressly 
authorised by this permission, shall be inserted or constructed at any time at first floor level 
or above, or in the roofslopes, of the dwellings hereby permitted. 

 Reason: To protect the amenities and privacy of the adjoining properties and approved 
dwellings, in accordance with policy GC3 of the Chiltern District Local Plan Adopted 1 
September 1997 (including alterations adopted 29 May 2001) consolidated September 2007 
and November 2011. 

9. Before the first occupation of the dwellings hereby approved, the first floor windows in the 
flank elevations shall be fitted with obscured glazing and any part of the window that is less 
than 1.7 metres above the floor of the room in which it is installed shall be non-opening. The 
windows shall be permanently retained in that condition thereafter.  

 Reason: To protect the amenities and privacy of the neighbouring properties, in accordance 
with policy GC3 of the Chiltern District Local Plan Adopted 1 September 1997 (including 
alterations adopted 29 May 2001) consolidated September 2007 and November 2011. 

10. Prior to occupation of the residential units hereby approved, the bin and recycling store 
shown on plan reference AMENDED 20 PLWL SP50B - INCLUDING WASTE shall be erected in 
accordance with the details shown on this plan. 

 Reason: To ensure that adequate waste and recycling storage is provided to serve the 
amenities of future occupiers of the development in accordance with policy GC3 of the 

Page 60



Chiltern District Local Plan Adopted 1 September 1997 (including alterations adopted 29 May 
2001) consolidated September 2007 and November 2011. 

11. This permission relates to the details shown on the approved plans as listed below: 

List of approved plans: 

Received  Plan Reference 

8 Jan 2021 AMENDED 19 PLWL SL1A - 19 PLWL SL1 

21 Dec 2020 PLOT 1 - 20 PLWL P01A 

21 Dec 2020 PLOT 2 20 PLWL P02A 

23 Dec 2020 TPP - REV A - DEC 2020 

8 Jan 2021 AMENDED 20 PLWL SP50B - INCLUDING WASTE 
 

INFORMATIVE(S) 

1. The Council is the Charging Authority for the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). CIL is a 

charge on development; it is tariff-based and enables local authorities to raise funds to pay 

for infrastructure. 

 If you have received a CIL Liability Notice, this Notice will set out the further requirements 

that need to be complied with.  

 If you have not received a CIL Liability Notice, the development may still be liable for CIL. 

Before development is commenced, for further information please refer to the following 

website https://www.chiltern.gov.uk/CIL-implementation or contact 01494 732792 for 

more information. 

 

 

Page 61



APPENDIX A:  Consultation Responses and Representations 

 

Councillor Comments 

Councillor Waters: I would like to call in the application for decision by the Planning Committee if 

the Officer recommendation is for approval. Concerns that the planning issues raised on previous 

applications and appeals on this site may not have been fully covered by the current application.  

Parish/Town Council Comments 

None received at time of drafting report. 

Consultation Responses  

Building Control Officer: ‘Access for the fire service will need to be provided to within 45m of all 

areas inside the new dwellings. The access drive will need to comply with Part B5 of the Building 

Regulations so that a fire appliance can access within 45m of any point inside the dwellings. It will 

need to be minimum 3.7m between kerbs, 3.1m between gate posts and designed to take the 

weight of a pump appliance. It will need turning facilities to comply with Part B5.’ 

Highways Officer: ‘Watchet Lane is a ‘C’ class road subject to a speed restriction of 30mph. 

Proposals seeks planning consent for the erection of two dwellings to the rear of No. 41 with 

associated vehicular access.  

I note that this application follows application PL/20/0036/FA, which, in a response dated the 27th 

January 2020, the Highway Authority had no objection to subject to conditions. This current 

application does not materially differ from that of this application and therefore I would like to 

reiterate comments made as part of that application.  

‘When considering trip generation, I would expect a dwelling in this location to generate between 

6-8 daily vehicular movements, two-way. Therefore, the overall development has the potential to 

generate an additional 12-16 daily vehicular movements (two-way) into the local highway network 

which I am satisfied can be safely accommodated. The proposed new access will need to be assessed 

in order to determine its suitability to accommodate these vehicle movements.  

In accordance with guidance contained within Manual for Streets, visibility splays of 2.4m x 43m are 

required in both directions from the proposed access commensurate with a speed limit of 30 mph. 

I am satisfied that these splays are achievable entirely within the publicly maintained highway from 

the proposed access point.  

The application proposes 3 parking spaces for each of the proposed dwellings. The parking standards 

specify that each parking space should be a minimum of 2.4m x 4.8m wide. Whilst I trust that the 

Local Planning Authority will consider the level of parking proposed, I can confirm that these spaces 

are of adequate dimensions and would allow for vehicles to park, turn and leave the site in a forward 

gear. 

Having reviewed the submitted plans, the proposed access will measure 4.8m in width for the initial 

10 meters before narrowing to between 3.8 and 4.2 meters wide. I am satisfied these dimensions 

are sufficient for this development.  

Page 62



With regards to refuse collection, Manual for Streets guidance states that residents should not be 

required to carry waste more than 30m to the storage point, and waste collection vehicles should 

be able to get to within 25m of the storage point. The proposed site plan does not accord with these 

requirements, and residents will therefore have to carry their waste bins in excess of this distance 

to enable roadside collection from Watchet Lane. Whilst this is not ideal, as the access road will not 

be adopted by the Highway Authority, I am not in a position to justify this as a reason for refusal of 

the application.’  

Mindful of the above, I have no objection to the proposals.’ 

Waste Officer: ‘Waste Services note the proposal for two dwellings at 41 Watchet Lane. We are 

satisfied with the Waste Strategy and the bin collection point highlighted in the plan. Collection 

teams will not access the long drive under any circumstances. All collections to take place in 

accordance with Council policies.’ 

Representations 

Eight comments have been received objecting to the proposal: 

- Harmful impact on amenities of both adjacent neighbouring properties 

- Unsympathetic to surroundings 

- Out of character and layout of area 

- Would create a second line of housing 

- Devaluation of house prices 

- Loss of outlook 

- Increase in noise 

- Bungalow would still have a negative impact on the outlook and amenity of No. 43 

- Overbearing and intrusive to No. 39a 

- Excess height of bungalow 

- Security and safety concerns regarding inadequate access 

- Existing hedges will impede on visibility splays 

- Access in close proximity to other existing accesses 

- Danger to pedestrians 

- Concern regarding access by emergency service vehicles 

- Inadequate and unsuitable parking arrangements 

- Concern regarding maintenance of flank boundaries 

- Piecemeal backyard development 

- Future development pressure 

- Disagreement with previous appeal decision 

- No useful housing gain 

- Failure to comply with planning policy 

  

Page 63



APPENDIX B:  Site Location Plan 

 

 

Do not scale – this map is indicative only 

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with permission of the Controller of Her Majesty’s Stationary Office © Crown 

Copyright 2012. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. 

Buckinghamshire Council, PSMA Licence Number 100023578 

Page 64


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	4 PL/20/3086/FA - The Swan Public House, Blackwell Hall Lane, Ley Hill, Buckinghamshire, HP5 1UT
	210309 PL203086FA - The Swan Public House
	210309 PL203086FA - The Swan Public House - plans

	5 PL/20/4132/FA - Slievmore, 84 Denham Lane, Chalfont St Peter, Buckinghamshire, SL9 0ES
	210309 PL204132FA Slievmore 84 Denham Lane
	210309 PL204132FA Slievmore 84 Denham Lane - plans

	6 PL/20/4358/FA - 41 Watchet Lane, Holmer Green, Buckinghamshire, HP15 6UF
	210309 PL204132FA 84 Denham Lane
	210309 PL204132FA 84 Denham Lane - plans


